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Er,yan W. Shaw, Ph.D., P.E., Chairman 

Toby Baker, comrnis..iorzer 

Zak Cover, Commisioner 

Richai'd A. Hyde, P.E , Executive Director 

TEXAS COMMISSION ON ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY 

Protecting Texas by Reducing and Prevcnring Pollution 

April 17, 2015 

The Honorable Gretchen Fagan 
Mayor of Tomball 
501 James Street 
Tomball, Texas 77375 

Re: 	Conipliance Evaluation Investigation at 
City of Tomball North Wastewater Treatment Plant 
615 East Huffsmith, Harris County, Texas 
TCEQ ID No.: WQ0010616001, EPA ID No.: '1X0022381 

Dear Mayor Fagan:‘ 

On February 17, 2015, Ms. Christi Torres of the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality 
(TCEQ) Houston RelOri Office conducted an investigation of the above-referenced facility to 
evaluate compliance with applicable requirements for water quality. No violations are being 
alleged as a result of the investigation; however, please see the enclosed Area of Concern and 
Additional Issues. 

The TCEQ aPpreciates Your assistance in this Matter and your compliance efforts to ensure 
protection of the State's -environment. If You or members of your staff have any questions 
regarding these matters, please feel free to contact Ms. Christi Torres in the Houston Region 
Office at phone number 713-767-3774. 

Sineerely, 

Barbara Sdlivan 
Team Leader 
Water Quality Management 
R.egion 12 Houston 

BSS/CHT/ci 

Enclosure: SummarY of Investigation Pindings 
Bypass for City of Tomball North Wastewater Treatment Plant 

TCEQ Regiun 12 • 523 POlk St., e. H • Houston, Tz xaa no23-14.52 • 711-767-3500 • Fax 713-767-35.zo 

An '01H 	 5,2-a • 	 1 1 	gov 	)11: 	 -IA 	• 
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Summary of IMiestigation 
	 f 

OF 	TOMDALL NORTHWA-ŠTEWAYER TAU+TMENT PLANT 1nvestigation  

615 E HUFSMITH RD 	 InvestitHWISate: 02/17/2015 
TOMBALL HARRIS COUNTY, TX 77375 

Additional ID(s): TX0022381 
W00010616001 

44,Titiriffrqfi4 tv;#44.t7F,iilkliTAREK:OrboNcE V441Y4-‘,Zt't.;11$11) •• 	 tr.!". ;,`: 

Track No: 566461 
30 TAC Chapter 305.125(5) 

Alleged Violation: 
investigation: 1227718 	 Comment Date: 04/07/2015 

Failed to test the reduced-pressure principal backflow prevention assembly (RPDA) annually. 
Specifically, it was determined the RPBA had not been tested in the past year. 
Recommended Corrective Action: Each RPBA must be tested annually. dubmit a passing 
test certificate for the RPBA. 
Resblution: On February 25, 2015, documentation was submitted indicating the alleged 
•violation has been resolved. 

b•r-citt.A'5“ft..Mic- '7:• • 

	

	 "" .„ 
Description 
Have unauthorized discharges occurred at 
the plant or in the collection system since the 
last CCI? 

Is the regulated entity compliant with the 
self-monitored efftuent limitations? 

Additional Comments 
There has been one unauthorized discharge 
reported in the past 18 months which was due to a 
grease blockage. See attached bypass report. 

One effluent violation was reported In the past 12 
months which was an exceedance of the daily 
average and daily max of total copper in December 
2014. See attached ISM data. 

Summary of Inyostigat,lon Findings 
	

Page i of 
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Bryan W:Shaw, Ph.D., P.E., Chairman 
Toby Baker, Commissioner 
Zak Cover, Commissioner 
Richard A. Hyde, P.E., Executive Director 

TEXAS COMMISSION ON ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY 

Protecting Texas by ieducing and Preventing Pollution 

April 17, 2015 

The Honorable Gretchen Fagan 
Mayor of Tomball 
501 James Street 
Tomball, Texas 77375 

Re: 	Compliance Evaluation Investigation at: 
City of Tomball South Wastewater Treatment Plant 
12411 Holderrieth, Harris County, Texas 
TCEQ ID No.: WQ0o1o616002, EPA ID No.: TM0117595 

Dear Mayor Fagan: 

On February 17, 2o15, Ms. Christi Torres of the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality 
(TCEQ) Houston Region Office conducted an investigation of the above-referenced facility to 
evaluate compliance with applicable requirements for water quality. No violations are being 
alleged as a result of the investigation; howeVer, please see the enclosed Areas of Concern and 
Additional Issue. 

The TCEQ appreciates your 'assistance in this matter and your Compliance efforts to ensure 
protection of the State's environment. If you or members of your staff have any questions 
regarding these matters, please feel free to contact Ms. Christi Torres in the Houston Region 
Office at phone number 713-767-3774. 

Sincerely, 

Barbara Sullivan 
Team Leader 
Water Quality Management 
Region 12 Houston 

ESS/CHT/ci 

Enclosure: Summary of Investigation Findings 

TC:z.C2 Rigion 12 • 5425 Polk St., Ste. H • Honstcin, Te‘as 7703-145 • 713-767-356o • Fax 71;3-767-35zo 
— 

Aun Headquat tere. st 2-23q-l000 • tcaci.tuni • go% • Hut*. our 	ef seri lee? 12,.V.V.M•tS.Cal ICtIOLKIVI Sung", • 

Direct Testimooy of Richard Weatherly, P.E. 	 Ex. RW-10 
COT0106 



icZ '7Ung-1(t. 

-CITY-OrTOMIlATE-SZUTITWWW— 

, HARRIS COUNTY, 

Additional ID(s):,  WQ0010616002 
7)(0117595  

Investigation # 

InvestgliMate: 02/17/2015 

  

VgaWtrvita-MVIA 	CERNVFM4-rgaire,'Mr1 

Track No: 566462 
30 TAC Chapter 305.125(1) 

PERMIT WQ0010616002, Monitoring and Reporting Require, No. 5 
Monitoring and Reporting Requirements, No. 5, pg. 6 

Alleged Violation: 
Investigation: 1227708 	 Cornment Date: 04/16/2015 

Failed to ensurellow measurement iccuracy. Specifically, the flow-Measurement accuracy 
check performed during the investigation revealed a staff gauge reading of 3.52 inches 
.(0.7589.MGP) and a flow meter reading of 0.841 MGD. 
Recommended Corrective ActIon: The flow meter shall be accurately calibrated by a trained 
person at plant start-up and as often thereafter as necessary to ensure accuracy, but not less 
often than annually. Submit documentation indicating that the flow meter' has been accurately 
calibrated. 
'Resolution: On March 2, 2015, documentation was submitted indicating the alleged violation 
has been resolVed. 

Track No: 566463 
30 TAC Chapter 319.1 

Alleged Violation: 
Investigation: 122708 	 Comment Date: 04/14/2015 

Failed to accurately complete the discharge monitoring reports (DMRs). Specifically, total 
chlorine residual for Septernber 2014 was reported incorrectly as 2.56 mg/L. The correct 
value was 2.33 rng/L. 

Recommended Corrective Action: All effluent data muat be accurately reported on ali DMRs. 
Correct and resubmit the DMRs for September 2014 to the Region 12 Office and the 
Enforcement Division (MC 224). 

Resolution: On FebrUary 18, 2016, documentation was submitted indicating the alleged 
violation has been resolved. 

Track No: 566464 
30 TAC Chapter 305.125(5) 

Alleged Violation: 
Investigation: 1227708 	 Comment Date: 04/07/2015 

Failed to maintain the required number of operational blowers. Specifically, the facility has 
two blower's located on-site with only one needed to provide adequate air to the oxidation 
ditch. Although, a back-up blower is located on-site it was not working at the time of the 
inspection. 
Recommended Corrective Action: ,The blowers shall be designed so that the maximum 
design air requirements can be met with the largest single unit out of service. Submit 
documentation indicating that the back-up blower has been repairerl or replaced. 

Summary of InvostlgatIon findings 	 Page 1 of 2 
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CITY OF TOMBALL SOUTI" VIAMTP 	 1.,vestlgation # 1227708  
Resolution: On hilarch 2, 	15, documentation was submitted indicating i alleged violation 
has been resolved. 

ifteriaMbitglitiNAIPPs Yic;''''tnalfaXTP. 
Description 	 Additional Comments 
Is the regulated entity compliant with the 	Two effluent violations were reported in the past 12 
self-monitored effluent limitations? 	months. An E. coli violation of 317 CFU/100mL 

that exceeded the daily max of 200 CFU/100mt. in 
December 2014 and an ammonia nitrogen violation 
of 9.21 mg/L which exceeded the daily max of 7 
mg/L. in April 2014 were the violations reported. 

Summary of Invoallgaflon Findings 	 Pago 2 of 2 
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Bryan W. Shaw, Ph.D., P.E., Chairman 
Toby Baker, Commissioner 
Jon Niermann, Commissioner 
Richard A. Hyde, P.E., Executive Director 

TEXAS COMMISSION ON ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY 
Protecting Texas by Reducing and Preventing Pollution 

December 8, 2015 

CERTIFIED MAIL #7013 3020 odoo 9763 1574 
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 

The Honorable Gretchen Fagan, Mayor 
City of Tomball 
501 James St. 
TOmball, Texas 77375-4623 

Re: 	Notice of Violation for the Comprehensive Compliance Investigation at: 
City of Tomball, 802 South Pine St., Tomball, Harris County, Texas 
Regulated Entity No.: 101226694, TCEQ ID No.: 1010026, Investigation No.: 1287738 

Dear Mayor Fagan: 

On November 4, 2015 through November 20, 2015, Ms. Sharon Salinas of the Texas Commission 
on Environrnental Quality (TCEQ) Houston Region Office conducted an investigation of the 
above-referenced regulated entity to evaluate compliance with applicable requirements for Public 
Water Supply. Enclosed is a summary which lists the investigation findings. During the 
investigation, a certain outstanding alleged violation was identified for which compliance 
documentation is required. Please submit to this office by March 18, 2016, a written description 
Of c6rrective action taken and the required documentation demonstrating that compliance has 
been achieved for the outstanding alleged violation. 

In the listing of the alleged violation, we have cited applicable requirements, including TCEQ 
rules. Please note that both the rules themselves and the agency brochure entitled Obtaining 
TCEQ Rules (GI 032) are located on our agency website at http://www.tceq.texas.gov  for your 
reference. If ÿou would like a hard copy of this brochure mailed to you, you may call and request 
one from either the Houston Region Office at (713) 767-3650 or the Central Office Publications 
Ordering Team at (512) 239-0628. 

The TCEQ appreciates your assistance in this matter. Please note that the Legislature has granted 
TCEQ enforcement powers which we may exercise to ensure compliance with environmental 
regulatory requirements. We anticipate that you will resolve the alleged violation as required in 
order to protect the State's environment. If you have additional information that we are unaware 
of, you have the opportunity to contest the violation documented in this notice. Should you choose 
to do so, you must notify the Houston Region Office within 10 days from the date of this letter. At 
that time, PWS Team Leader Ms. Julia Thorp, will schedule a violation review meeting to be 
conducted within 21 days from the date of this letter. However, please be advised that if you 
decide to participate in the violation review process, the TCEQ may still require you to adhere to 
the compliance schedule included in the attached Summary of Investigation Findings until an 
official decision is made regarding the status of the contested violation. 

TCEQ Region 52  • 5425 Polk St., Ste, H • Houston, Texas 770234452 • 713-767-3500 • Fax 713-767-3520 

Austin Headquarters: 512-239-1000 • toeq.texas.gov  • How is our customer service? tceq.texas.govjcustomerstuvey 
printed on recycled paper 
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Ms. Gretchen Fagan, Mayor 
December 8, 2015 
Page 2 

If you orThembers of your staff have any questions, please feel free to contact Ms. Sharon Salinas 
in the Houston Region Office at (713) 767-3650. 

Sincerely, 

Julia Thorp:Team Leader 
Public Water Supply 
Houston Region Office 

,JT/SJS 

cc: 	Harris County Public Health and Environmental Services 
John Escamilla, Director of Public Works, 501 James St., Tomball, Texas 77375-4623 

Enclosure: 	Summary of Investigation Findings 

Direct Testimony of Richard Weatherly, P.E. 	 Ex. RW-10 
COT0111 



Crry OF TOMBALL 

501 N ELM ST 
TOMBALL, HARRIS COUNTY, TX 77375 

Investigation # 

IrivestilgWo7n3Eate: 1 1/041201 5 

Additional ID(s): 1010026 

Summary of šnypstigation Findin 

OUTSTANDING ALLEGED VIOLATION(S) 
ASSOCIATED TO A NOTICE OF VIOLATION 

Track No: 589847 	Compliance Due Date: 03/18/2016 
30 TAC Chapter 290.42(e)(4)(C) 

Alleged Violation: 
Investigation: 1287738 
	

Comment Date: 12/07/2015 

Disinfection 
Failure to (kovide adequate-ventilation, Which includes both high level and floor level screened 
vents, shall be provided for all enclosures in which gas chlorine is being stored or fed. 
Enclosures containing more than one operating 150-pound cylinder of chlorine shall also 
provide forced airventilation which includes: screened and louvered floor level and high level 
vents; a fan which is located at and draws air in through the top vent and disctiarges to the 
Outside atmosphere through the floor level vent; and a fan switch located outside the 
enclosure. Altemately, systems may install negative pressure ventilation as long as the 
facilities also have gas containment and treatment as prescdbed by the current International 
Fire Code (IFC). 

At the time of the investigation, it was found that Plant 1 on South Street did not haVe proper 
forced air ventilation and did not have a fan switch located outside the enclosure where the 
chlorine gas was being fed into the distribution system. It was also found that Plant 2 on 

. Baker Street did not have proper forced air ventilation where chlorine gas livas being fed into 
the.distribution system. And it was elk) found that Plant 3 on FM 2920 did not have proper 
forced air ventilation where chlorine gas was being fed into the distribution system. 
Recommended Coriective Action: Submit a photo, work order or invoice to show that a fan 
switch located outside the enclosure has been installed at Plant 1 and that adequate ventilation 
has been provided at Plant 1, Plant 2 and Plant 3. 

Summary of nv estigatioh Fin dings 	 Page 1 of 1 
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Cherokee Electrical Services 

32915 Westwood Sq. West 
Magnolia, TX 77354 
281-356-5703 

Date 
	

Invoice # 

3/31/2016 
	

1230 

InVoicp 

Bill To 

The City of Tomball 
RE: Install exhaust fans ® 3 water wells 
ATTN: JOHN ESCAMILLA 

P.O. No. Terms Project 

0018504D. 

Quantity Description Rate Amount 

#1) Water well @maintenance facility 0.00 
Install new exhaust fan and install switch outside 0.00 , 
Labor & Material 	 . ..680.00 	_ 	_ 	_ . 	 _ 	_ ,. 	_ _ ..0.00 

0.00 
#2) Water well on Baker Street 

Install exhaust fan 0.00 
Labor & Material 	620.00 0.00 

#3) Water well on F.M. 2920 0.00 
Install exhaust fan 0.00 
Labor & Material 	620.00 1,920.00 1,920.00 

, 

. .... . 	— 

Total 	$1,20.00 
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City of Tomball 
	

APPLICATION TO OBTAIN A WATER AND SEWER 

Appendix F 
	

CERTIFICATE OF CONVCNIENCE ANb NECESSITY (CCN) 

List of Utility's Certified Water and Sewer Operators 

Name 	
1 

____ _ Class)  . 

Wa-ste-vi7a-tei 	. 

License Ntimber 

' 	Groundwater 

-Class;  License  Nurr*r 

Danny Hitchcock B WW0036832 B WG0011995 

John Escamilla B WW0036826 B WG0011999 

Randy Warren B WW0040428 B WG0011998 

Dewayne Osgood B WW0038642 B WG0011765 

William Goff 	' ,. 	B WW0039435 B ' 	WG0011524 

Carl Singleton B WW0040055 C WG0010018 

Timothy Negrete, C WW0035872 C WG0011092 
Justin Pruitt C WW0039103 C WG0011527 

Tracy Walton B WW0038644 B WG0012363 

Robert Sindlinger B WW0038643 B WG0011997 

Bradley Janisch B . WW0042975 B WG0013015 

Cody Palmer C WW0040503 C WG0012075 

-Tom Borcky-Noblet C WW0040486 C WG0012174 

Alan Martin C WW0041940 C WG0013016 
Glen Williams A WW0017401 B WG0008337 
Justin Stancil D WW0050217 D WG0034199 

Clarence Zimmerman C WW0052160 C WG0015167 

Randall Huey D WW0051585 C WG0015261 

Wesley Patten D WW0051593 C WG0015266 
'James Linney .B WW0045632 C WG0000708 
Jake Colburn D WW0052836 D WG0036105 
John Valadez C WW0040056 C WG0012223 
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5. Existing System Information 

G. Effect of Grantinga Certificate Amendment. 

Explain in detail the effect of granting of a certificate or an amendment, 

including, but not limited to regionalization, compliance and economic 

effects on the following: 

i. the applicant, 

ii. any retail public utility of the same kind already serving the 

proximate areb; and 

iii. any landowner(s) in the requested area. 

The effect of granting the proposed water and sewer CCN is that the City of 
Tomball can facilitate orderly growth and environmentally safe water and 
sewer services. The City of Tamball already maintains infrastructure within 
portions of the proposed area. If the proposed CCN is granted, these 
landowners will have access to reliable and safe water and sewer service. 

l. Ability to Provide Adequate Service. 

Describe the ability of the applicant to provide adequate service, including 

meeting the standards of the commission, taking both of the following 

items into consideration: 

the current and projected density; and 

ii. 	the land use of the requested area. 

The City of Tomball currently provides water and sewer service that meets 
the standards of the commission. The City's Infrastructure Master Plan, 

included in Appendix F, shows the City's plan to serve projected growth in 
the proposed CCN. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 

COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 

- City Manager 
George Shackelford 

Prepared by: 
Glenn Windsor, CPA, CGFO 

Finance Director 

Kacie Richardson, CGFO 
Senior Accountant 
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•City of Tomball.  Gretchen Fagan 

Mayor 

George Shackelford 
City Manager 

March 24, 2016 

To the Hondrable Mayor,-Members of the City Council, and Citizens of the City of Tomball, Texas: 

It is with great pleasure thai we present to you a cdpy of the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) of 
the City of Tomball, Texas (the "City") for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015. The responsibility for both 
the accuracy of the presented information and the completeness and fairness of the presentation of the data, 
including all disclosures, rests with the City. To the best of our knowledge and belief, the enclosed data is 
accurate in all material respects and is repined in a manner designed to present fairly the results of operations of 
the varions funds of the City, as well as the fund balances. All disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain 
an understanding of the City 's financial activities have been included. 

The 6kFR is "presented in three sections: Introductory, Financial, and Statistical. The Introductory Section 
-includes this transmittal letter, the City 's organizational chart, and a list of principal officials, elected and 
appointed. The Financial Section includes Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A), Basic Financial 
Statements, Required Supplementary Inforination, Combining and Individual Fund Financial Statements and 
Other Supplemental Information,, as:well as the independent auditors report. The Statistical Section includes 
selected financial and dernographic information generally presented on a multi-year basis. 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) immediately follows the independent auditors' report and 
prOvides a narrativeintfoduction, overview, and-analysis of the basic financial statements. MD&A complements 
this letter of transmittal and should be read inconjunction with it. 

Orofile oi the Governinent 

The City, incorporated on' July 18, 1933, is located northwest of Houston, Texas, in a rapidly growing area of 
Harris County. The City currently occupies a land area of 12.29 square miles and serves an estimated population 
of 11,299. The City of TOmball is empowered tO levy a property tax on both real and'personal properties located 
within its boundaries. It also is empowered by state statute to extend its corporate limits by annexation, which 
occurs when deemed appropriate by the governing council. 

The City has operated under the council-manager form of government since 1980. Policy-making and legislative 
authority are vested in a governing council consisting of the mayor and five council members. Thc council is 
elected on a non-partisan basis. Council members serve three-year terms, with two council members elected every 
year. The mayor is elected to serve a three-year term. The mayor and council are elected at large. The governing 
council is responsible for, among other things, passing ordinances, adopting the budget, appointing committees, 
and hiring both the City Manager and City Attorney., The City Manager is fesponšible for canying out the 
policies and ordinances of the governing council, for overseeing the day-to-day operations of the government, and 
for appointing the heads of the various departments. 

The City provides a full range of services, including police and fire protection; the construction and maintenance 
of streets and other infrastructure; recreational activities and cultural events. Solid waste services are provided 
through a contract with W4ste Corporation of America. 
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Transmittal Letter 
City of Tomball, Texas 

The annual budget serves as the foundation-for the City's fmancial planning and control. All departments of the 
City are required to submit requests for appropriation to the Finance Director. These requests serve as a starting 
point for developing a proposed budget. The Finance Director provides the information to the City Manager who 
then presents this proposed budget to the council for review. The council is required to hold public hearings on 
the proposed budget and to. adopt a fmal budget no later than September 30, the close of the City's fiscal year. 
The appropriated budget is prepared by fund, function, and department. Department heads may make requests to 
the City Manager for transfers of appropriations within a department. Transfers of appropriations between 
departments, however, require the approval of the City Council. Budget-to-actual comparisons are provided in 
this report for each individual governmental fund for which an appropriated annual budget has been adopted. For 
the general fund, this comparison is presented on page 62 as part of required supplementary information. For 
governmental funds, other than the general fund, with appropriated annual budgets, this comparison is presented 
in the non-major governmental fund subsection of this report, which starts on page 68. 

Factors Affecting Financial Condition 

The information presented in the financial statements is better understood when it is considered from the broader 
perspective of the specific environment within which the City of Tomball operates. 

Local Economy 

The City is located approximately 32 miles northwest of Houston and is primarily surrounded by municipal utility 
districts, making it one of the only incorporated area in this portion of Harris County. As a result, the City has 
evolved into the area's principal commercial center. Assessed values for Fiscal 2015 reflect an increase of 4.22% 
to $1.53 billion. This property value increase is the result of continued commercial development within the City 
including the expansion of the training facility at Baker-Hughes, continued development of the medical complex, 
and additional growth in the retail sector. New single-family residential developments were under construction at 
the end of the fiscal' year, including The Reserve at Spring Lake with 95 individual lots and homes with an 
average value of $500,000 and the Raleigh Creek subdivision with 32 homes with an average value of $450,000. 

Sales tax revenues continued to incredse but not at the rate of the prior year. The City had a 2.92% increase in 
this major revenue source during 2014-2015. New retail businesses continue to opeii in the retail district located 
on the City's west side. 

The region (which covers an area within a five-mile radius from the center of the City) has an employed labor 
force of approximately 26,000 within a 5 mile radius. The largest groups of employers are in service and retail 
trade. 

LOng-Term Financial Planning 

The City continued the construction and design of Medical Complex Drive and the M121 drainage channel which 
was designed to mitigate flooding in the downtown area. Funding for both of these projects came from the 
issuance of $14.5 million in Certificates of Obligation issued January, 2012. At September 30, 2015, Medical 
Complex Drive was substantially complete with completion expected in early 2016. 
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Transmittal Letter 
City of Tomball, Texas 

In conjunction with the Tomball Economic Development Corporation, The City issued $ 8,500,000 in Certificates 
of Obligation (May 2013) to finance the construction of infrastructure to seriTide a new business park on the 
southeast corner of the City. 

In July 2015, bids were awarded for the construction of roadways, water, sewer, gas, and drainage within the park 
as well as turn lanes and box culverts within the public right-of way adjacent to the park entrances. At September 
30,,2015, the turn lanes had been completed, the perimeter storm sewer had been installed, the first 500 feet of 
Spell Road, west of Hufsmith-Korville was complete and infrastructure construction was generally on,schedule. 

The TEDC sold its first lot, a 17.38 acre tract, to Packers Plus Energy Services for $2,106,595 in July, 2015. 

Additionally, infrastructure projects fdr water, sewer, drainage, and natural gas distribution continue to be funded 
through the budget process.. All capital projects and major infrastructure needs are reviewed periodically during 
the year to assess both the progress of construction and the actual versus projected costs. 

Major Initiatives 

The largest revenue source in the General Fund is sales tax. The City has experienced significant commercial and 
retail growth over the last several years. HoWever, because of the recession experienced in 2008-2009, the City 
continued a conservative approaCh in budgeting sales tax revenues. For fisdal 2015, sales tax revenues were 
projected at $ 10,400,000 but with a possible declinein the area due to reduced oil prices, a conservative approach 
projects these revenues at the same level for fiscal 2016. 

In August 201J, the City Council completed a five year visioning and strategic planning session to chart a course 
for the City. In that - session the council decided to focus on expanding and improving the City's quality 
infrastructure, facilities and public services to meet current and future needs; improving multimodal accessibility 
to the City and within Tomball; creating a highly efficient, service-oriented culture within the City of Tomball; 
ensuring the City's revenue stream is sufficient to sustain the operation and future needs; and implementing 
economic development strategies to increase revenues to the City, diversify the tax base, create quality 
employment and housing opportunities, grow local businesses, and maximize the community's economic assets. 

Goals achieved as a result of this process include 'continued annual funding of the capital improvement program, 
major improVements to the City website, re-codification of the Tomball city ordinances and the creation of the 
financial transparency web page. The City has approved funding for several sidewalk projects to improve 
accessibility within the City, including the Medical Distiict sidewalks. The City_approved a Professional Services 
agreement for the development of a Downtown Specific Plan, which addresses land use and zoning regulations 
for the downtown area. This plan had not been adopted at September 30, 2015. The current strategic plan builds 
on the 2008 plan which resulted in the completion of an FM 2920 Acces Management Study, a Livable Centers 
Downtown Plan and the first citywide Comprehensive Plan. 

Financial Information 

The City's management team is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal controls designed to ensure 
that the assets of the City are protected from loss, theft, or misuse and to ensure that adeqUate accounting data is 
compiled to'allow for the preparation df financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles. Internal controls are designed to provide reasonable but not absolute assurance that these objectives 
are met. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that (1) the cost of the controls should not exceed the 
benefits likely to be derived and (2) the valuation of cost and benefits requires estimates and judgments to be 
made by management. 
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Transmittal Letter 
City of Tomball, Texas 

Budgeting Controls 

The City maintains budgetary controls to ensure compliance with. legal , provisions embodied in the annual 
appropriated budget approved by the City Council. Activities of the General Fund, Debt Service Fund, Special 
Revenue Funds, Utility Fund, and Internal Service Funds are included in the annual operating budget. The 
Tomball Economic Development Corporation, a component unit of the City, is budgeted separately. A capital 
improvement plan is approved each.year by the city council and funded through a separate capital projects fund. 
The level of budgetary control (i.e., the level at which expenditures cannot legally exceed the appropriated 
amount) is established at the division level within an individual fund. The City maintains an encumbrance 
accounting system as a means of accomplishing budgetary controls and a technique of budgetary "lock out" 
which will prevent a transaction from exceeding legally appropriated budgetary amounts. As deihonstrated by the 
statements and schedules included in the fmancial section of this report, the City continues to meet its 
responsibility for sound financial management. 

Debt Administration 

The City may issue General Obligatkm bonds that are approved by voters in a capital improvements plan. 
Certificates of Obligation can be used for major construction projects and for the financing of vehicles and 
equipment. 

When available, sales tax revenue in excess of budgeted projections can be , dedicated to one-time capital 
purchases. 

Independent Audit 

The City'Charter requires an independent audit of the accounts of the City, by an independent auditor. The firm of 
Weaver and Tidwell, LLP, Certified Public Accountants, has issued an unmodified (clean") opinion on the City 
of Tomball's financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2015. The independent auditor's report is 
located at the front of the financial section of this report. 

Awards 

The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in 
Financial Reporting to the City for its Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year 
September 30, 2014. This was the -25th  consecutive year that the City has received this award. In order to be 
'awarded the Certificate of Achievement, the City published an easily readable and efficiently organized 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. This report satisfies both generally accepted accounting principles and 
applicable legal requirements. The Certificate of Achievement is held for a period of one year only. Our current 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement requirements, 'and will 
be submitted to GFOA to determine its eligibility for another Certificate. 

The City also received the Distinguished Budget Presentation Award for the fiscal year beginning 
October 1, 2014. This is the seventh consecutive year that the City has received this award from'the GFOA. The 
award is made to those cities whose budget presentations meet very stringent presentation guidelines. The budget 
document must be of the very highest quality that reflects both the guidelines established by the National 
•Advisory Council on State and Local Budgeting and the GFOA's recommended practices on budgeting. 

iv 
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Transmittal Letter 
City of Tomball, Texas 

For the fourth consecutive year, the City was also awarded the Leadership Award as part of the ``Texas 
Transparency" program from the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts. The City received the Gold award the 
first two years and the Platinum award for the past two years. This program involves publishing firiancial 
information such as CAFRs, budgets, and check registers to demonstrate transparent government to both the 
citizens and other members of the public. 

Acknowledgements 

The preparation of this report would not have been possible without the efficient and dedicated services of the 
administrative staff of the City and the members of the Finance Department. We also would like to express our 
appreciation to all members of the departments who assisted and contributed to the preparation of this report. 
Credit must also be given to the Mayor and the City Council for their unfailing support for maintaining the 
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Respectfully submitted, 

Glenn Windsor, CPA, CFE, CGFO 
Finance Director 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
PRINCIPAL OFFICIALS AS OF 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 

City Officials 

 

Elected Position 	 Term Expires 

     

Gretchen Fagan 	 Mayor 	 2016 
F. S. "Field" Hudgens 	 Councilman Position 1 	 2017 
Mark Stoll 	 Couhcilman Position 2 	 2018 
Chad Degges 	 Councilman Position 3 	 2016 
Derek Townsend, Sr. 	 Councilman Position 4 	 2018 
Lori Klein Quinn 	 Councilman Position 5 	 2017 

Department Heads 	 Appointive Position 
George,  Shackelford 
Robert Hauck 
Doris Speer 
Billy Tidwell 
Da\id Esquivel ' 
Randall Parr 
Craig Meyers 
Glenn Windsor 

City Manager 
Assistant City Manager 

City Secretary 
Chief of Police 

Director of Public Works 
Fire,Chief 

Community Development Director 
Finance Director 

vi 
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Staff Organizational Chart 

Tomball Citizens 

Mayor and City Council 

— Tomball Economic Development Corporation 

—Planning Corn aiission 
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weäver> 
Assurance• Tax • Advisory 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Honorable Mayor and 
City Council Members of the 
City of Tomball, Texas' 

Report on the Financial Staternen6 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of_the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the 
aggregate remaining fund inforrnation of the,City of Tomball,'Texas (the City) as of and for the 
year ended September 30, 2015, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 
collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

Managethent's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

The Citys management is resporfsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of intemal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statemetits based on our audit: We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America. Those standards require that we plan arid perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements ai-e free from material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves perfortning procedures to .obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors 
jUdgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error'. In making those risk assessmentš, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entitys preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order ,to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, bUt not,for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entitys intemal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonablenes's of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as . evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinions. 

AN INDEPENDENT MEMBER OF 	WEAVER AND TIDWELL L.L.P. 	 24 GREENWAY PLAZA, SUITE 1800, HOUSTOR TX 77046 
BAKER TILLY INTERNATIONAL 	CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS AND ADVISORS 	P: 713 850 8787 F: 713 850 1673 
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To the Honorable Mayor and 
City Council Members of the 

' City of Tomball, Texas 

Opinions 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the 

. discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of the City as of Septembe'r 30, 2015, and the respective changes in financial 
position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Change in Accounting Piinciple 

As discussed in Note 1 to -the basic financial statements, the City has adopted the provisions of 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 68, Accounting and 
Reporting for Pensions - an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27, and GASB Statement 
No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date — an 
amendment of GASB Statement No. 68. Beginning net position on the govemment-wide 
Statement of Activities and on the proprietary funds Statement of Revenues, Expenses and 
Changes in Fund Net Position has been restated to reflect the effect of implementation of these 
statements. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management's discussion and analysis, Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and 
Related Ratios, Schedule of Contributions, Schedule of Funding Progress — Post Employment 
Benefits Plan Other Than Pensions and Schedule of Revenues Expenditures, and Changes in 
Fund Balance, Budget and Actual — General Fund be presented to supplement the basic 
financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is 
required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential 
part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the 
required supplementary,information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of 
preparing the information and comparing the information,  for consistency with management's 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained 
during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on the information because the limited procedures cid, not provide us with sufficient 
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
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To the Honorable Mayor and 
City Council Members of the 
City of Tomball, Texas 

Other Information 
Our audit was conduqted for the purpose of forming opinionš on the finahciarstaternehts that 
collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements. The introductory section, combining 
and individual nonmajor fund financial statements and schedules, ahd statistical section are 
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not' a required part of the basic financial 
statements. 

The combining and ihdividual nonmajor fund financial statements and schedules •are the 
responsibility of management and were deriVed from and relate directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information 
has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic 
financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance ,with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
Ainerica. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the 
basic financial statements as a whole. 

The introductory and stadstical sections have not been eubjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an 
opinion or provide any assurance on them. 

6)./.4fAPA and  

WEAVER AND TIDWELL, L.L.P. 

Houston, Texas- 
March 24, 2016 
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Management's Discussion and Analysis 
(Unaudited) 

As Management of the City,of Tomball, we offer readers of the City's financial statements this 
narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2015. This information is not intended to be a complete statement of the City's 
financial condition. We recommend and encourage readers to consider the information 
presented here in conjunction with the, acconipanying transmittal letter and basic financial 
statements. 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

• The assets of the City of Tomball exceeded its liabilities at the close• of the most recent fiscal 
year by $ 90,664,834 (net position). Of this arnount, $10,694,702 is unrestricted net position 
for govemmental activities and $10,960,950 for business-type activities. 

• The City's net position increased by $5,533,180. This included an increase of $218,344 in 
unrestricted net position, an increase of $5,658,904 in net investment in capital assets, and 
a decrease of $344,068 in restricted net position. 

• As of the-close of the current fiscal year, the City of Tomball's govarnmental funds reported 
combined ending fund balances of $ 37,019,902. Of the ending fund balance, $23,370,264 is 
restricted for specific purposes (e.g., capital projects, debt service); $167,060 is committed for 
specific purposes; $127,671 is assigned by the City for specific purposes; $14,435 is 
non-sriendable and $13,340,472 is unassigned and available to meet the government's 
ongoing obligations in accordance with the City's fund designation and fiscal policies. 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City's basic 
financial statements. The Citys basic financial statements comprise three components: 
1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the' 
financial statements. This re0ort also contains other supplementary information in addition to 
the basic financial statements themselves. 

Government-wide Financial Statements 

The government-wide financial staternents are designed to 'provide readers with a broad 
overview of the Citys finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business. 
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The Statement of Net Position presents information on all of the Citys assets and liabilities, with 
the difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net 
position serve as useful indicators of whether the financial position of the City is improving or 
deteriorating. This statement combines and consolidates governmental funds current financial 
resources (short-term spendable resources) with capital assets and long-term obligations. Other 
non-financial factors should also be taken into consideration, such as changes in the Citys 
property tax base and the condition of the City's infrastructure (i.e. roads, drainage improvements, 
storm sewer, gas distribution, water distribution and sewer collection lines, etc.), to assess the 
overall financial condition of the City. 

The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the City's net position changed 
during the fiscal year. All of the current years revenues and expenses are taken into account 
regardless of when cash is received or paid. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this 
statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected 
taxes.  and earned but not used compensated absences). Both the statement of net position and 
the statement of activities are prepared utilizing the accrual basis of accounting as opposed to the 
modified accrual basis ukd in the govemmental fund statements. 

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of' the City that are 
principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (govemmental activities) from 
functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees 
(business-type activities). 

• Govemmental activities include most of the Citys basic serV' ices, (general govemment, 
public safety, public works and comrriunity services). Property taxes, sales taxes, and 
franchise fees primarily finance these activities. 

• Business-type activities include the City's water, sewer, and gas systern. Charges for 
services cover all or most of the costs for these services. 

• Component Unit activities include ac'tivities of The Tomball Economic Development 
Corporation. 

Fund Financial Statements 

A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that 
have been segregated for specific bctivities or objectives. Fund accounting is used by state and 
local governments to control and manage money for particular purposes and to ensure 
finance-related legal requirements. The City uses two fund types — governmental and 
proprietary. 
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• Governmental funds — Similar to the governmental activities in the gbvemment-wide 
financial statements. 	However, unlike the govemment-wide financial statements, 
govemmental funds focus on current sources and uses of spendable resources. The 
govemmental fund statements provide a detailed short-term view of the City's general 
govemment operations and help you to determine whether resOurces are available in the 
near future to finance City programs. Comparing the information presented for 
govemmental funds with the information presented for govemmental activities in the 
government-wide financial statements will help,. the reader to better understand the 
long-term impact of the government's near-term financing decisions. The governmental 
funds balance sheet and statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund 
balances include a reconciliation to provide such comparison. 

The City maintains ten governmental funds. Information is presente'd separately in the 
governmental funds balance 'sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the General Fund, the Debt Service 
Fund and the Capital Projects Fund; these funds are considered to be major funds. The 
other seven funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund 
data for each ,of these non-major governmental funds is provided in the form of 
combining statements found in this report. 

• Proprietary funds — The City maintains two ty'pes of proprietary funds. The City uses the 
Enterprise Fund for water, sewer, and gas operations. The Enterprise Fund reports the 
same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial 
statements. The second proprietary fund is the Intemal Service Fund. This fund is used 
to account for fleet replacements and employee benefits. The Internal Service Fund is 
included within the govemmental activities in the gchernment-wide financial statements. 

Proprietary fund financial statements provide the same type of information as the 
bovernment-wide financial statements, with more detail, and include the Internal Service 
Fund type activity. 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

The notes provide additional infOrmation that is essential to a full understanding of the data 
provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. 

Other Information 

In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents 
combining and individual fund statements and schedules that further support the information in the 
financial statements. These statements are presented immediately following the notes to the 
financial statements. 
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 

The City's assets exceed liabilities by $90.7 million as of September 30, 2015. The largest 
portion of the City's net position (71%) reflects its investments in capital assets (e.g., land, 
buildings, equipment, improvements, construction in progress and infrastructure), less any 
related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding. The City uses these capital 
assets to provide services 'to citizens; therefore, these assets are not available for future 
spending. It should be noted that the resources needed to !epay this debt must be provided 
from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these 
liabilities. 

CITY OF TOMBALL'S NET POSITION 

Govemmental Activities Business-type Activities Totals 

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 

Current and other assets $ 	41,754,802 $ 	44,326,885 $ 	13,036,258 $ 	14,250,852 $ 	54,791,060 $ 	58,577,737 

Capital assets 42,280,309 37,259,410 37,546,729 38,068,770 79,827,038 75,328,180 

Total assets 84,035,111 81,586,295 50,582,987 52,319,622 134,618,098 133,905,917 

Total deferred outflows 

of resources 1,381,985. 394,282 180,257 1,562,242 394,282 

Long-term liabilities 33,882,012 31,928,599. 4,412,941 6,358,235 38,294,953 38,286,834 

Other liabilities 5,212,757 4,737,895 1,946,830 2,659,610 7,159,587 , 
7,397,505 

Total liabilities 39,094,769 36,666,494 6,359,771 9,017,845 45,454,540 45,684,339 

Total deferred inflows 

of resources 52,014 8,952 60,966 

Net position.  

Net investment in 

capital assets 31,267,016 28,189,848 33,433,571 30,851,835 64,700,587 59,041,683 

Restricted 4,308,595 3,557,490 1,095,173 4,308,595 4,652,663 

Unrestricted 10,6942702 13,566,745 10,960,950 11,354,769 21,655,652 24,921,514 

Total net position $ 	46,270,313  $ 	45,314,083  $ 	44,394,521 $ 	43,301,777 $ 	90,664,834  $ 	88,615,860  

Combined governmental and business-type activities increased the City's net pošition by 
$5,533,180 in 2015. The following table provides a summary of the City's operations for the 

'year ended September 30, 2015. Governmental activities increased the City of Tomball's net 
position by $3,928,839. This increase is primarily related to the inCrease in sales tax revenues 
over the fiscal year in the Retail and Services industries. Business-type activities increased the 
City's net position by $1,604,341. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL'S CHANGES IN NET POSITION 

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Totals 

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 

Revenues. 

Program revenues 

Charges for services 	$ 	3,694,337 

Operating grants 

$ 	3,762,025 $ 	10,908,120 $ 	11,336,758 $ 	14,602,457 $ 	15,098,783 

'and contributions 1,039,237 1,844,224 670,000 670,000 1,709,237 2,514,224 

Capital grants 

and contributions 

General revenues: 

Property taxes 5,241,928 5,009,955 5,241,928 5,009,955 

Sales taxes 10,839,818 10,532,691 10,839,818 10,532,691 

Franchise taxes 1,282,598 1,253,077 1,282,598 1,253,077 

Other taxes 538,843 590,910 538,843 590,910 

Gam on sale 

of capital assets 17,634 - 17,634 

Investment earnings 40,115 30,636 33,771 ( 1,417) 73,886 29,219 

Miscellaneous 475,712 —  253,375 47,847- 45,800 523,559 299,175 

Total revenues 23,170,222 23.276,893 11,659,738 12,051,141 34,829,960 35,328,034 

Expenses.  

General government 4,968,344 4,789,051 979,161 909,211 5,947,505 5,698,262 

Public safety 8,493,353 8,069,621 - 8,493,353 8,069,621 

Public works 6,181,783 6,137,989 6,181,783 6,137,989 

Community services 313,713 338,381 - 313,713 338,381 

Water - 3,087,563 2,962,612 3,087,563 2,962,612 

Sewer 2,418,443 1,978,197 2,418,443 1,978,197 

Gas 1,963,162 2,229,583 1,963,162 2,229,583 

Interest on long-term 

debt, fiscal agent fees 891,258 926,584 245,129 891,258 1,171,713 

Total expenses 20,848,451 20,261,626 8,448,329 8,324,732 29,296,780 28,586,358 

Increasesi(Decrease) m net position 

before transfers 2,321,771 - 	3,015,267 3,211,409 3,726,409 5,533,180 6,741,676 

Transfers 1,607,068 1,691,621 ( 1,607,068) ( 1,691,621) 

Change in net position 3,928,839 4,706,888 1,604,341 2,034,788 5,533,180 6,741,676 

Net position, beginning- as 

originally reported 
45,314,083 41,063,373 43,301,777 41,368,304 88,615,860 82,431,677 

Implementation of change m 
( 2,972,609) ( 	456,178) ( 511,597) ( 101,315) ( 	3,484,206) ( 	557,493) 

accounting principle 

Net position, beginning- 
42,341,474 40,607,195 42,790,180 41,266,989 85,131,654 81,874,184 

restated 

Net position, endmg 46,270,313 $ 	45,314,083 $ 	44,394,521 $ 	43,301,777 $ 	90,664,834 $ 	88,615,860 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE GOVERNMENTS FUNDS 

Governmental Funds 

At the end of the current fiscal year, the City's,governmental funds reported combined ending 
fund balances of $37,019,902. Approximately 36% of this amount ($13,340,472) is unassigned 
fund balance; however, $127,671 is assigned for encumbrances at year-end for the General 
Fund and $167,060 is coMmitted in the Special Revenue Funds for City functions; $23,384,699 
is non-spendable or restricted as follows: 

Non-spendable (.04%) 
• Prepaid items 	 $ 14,435 

Restricted (63%) 
• Debt service 	 $ 3,081,703 
• Construction 	 18,936,347 
• Enabling legislation 	 1,352,214 

In the General Fund, fund balance increased by $68,539. This increase was primarily due to an 
increase in Sales Tax revenues. The Debt Service Fund 'Balance increased by $444,848 
primarily from an increase in property tax revenues. 

Proprietary Fund 

Unrestricted net position of the respective proprietary funds are Enterprise (water, sewer, gas) 
of $10,684,955 and Internal Service Fund,(fleet replacement fund and employee benefits trust 
fund) of $2,683,448. The net position of the water, sewer, and gas fund increased $1,457,669. 
Inter-fund transfers were less than the previous year. Actual revenues from water, sewer, and 
gas sales decreased during the year because of both a mild winter and more rainfall during the 
summer. Net  position of the internal service fund increased $359,657. This was due primarily 
to an increase in the participant's cost of group health insurance coverage. 

General Fund Budgetary Highlights 

The budget for the 2014-2015 General Fund increased from the previous year, 2013-2014. 
Additional supplemental expenditures in the amount of $1,361,344 were approved together with 
vehicle replacements of $502,247 and cash funded capital expenditures of $1,,465,675. 

There was not a significant change to Fund Balance with an increase from the beginning of the" 
year of $68,539. The beginning fund balance of $13,414,039 increased to $13,482,578. 
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CAPITAL ASSETS 

The City of Tomball's investment in capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation) for its 
governmental and business-type activities as of September 30, 2015 is $79,827,038. The 
investment in capital assets includes land, buildings and improvements, equipment, 
infrastructure, and construction in progress. 

CITY OF TONIBALL'S CAPITAL ASSETS AT YEAR-END 

Govemmental Activities Business-type Activities Totals 

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 

Land $ 	6,379,852 $ 	5,651,056 $ 	1,403,735 $ 	1,403,735 $ 	7,783,587 $ 	- 	7,054,791 

Buildings and 

improvements 7,349,574 7,581,664 - - 7,349,574 7,581,664 

Gas system 3,066,176 3,206,261 3,066,176 3,206,261 

Water and Sewer system 28,661,983 29,776,108 28,661,983 29,776,108 

Equipment 1,284,818 1,407,784 2,755,395 2,530,434 4,040,213 3,938,218 

Vehicles 1,236,473 394,421 - - 1,236,473 394,421 

Infrastructure 14,647,502 15,228,191 - - 14,647,502 15,228,191 

Construction in progress 11,382,090 6,996,294 1,659,440 1,152,232 13,041,530 8,148,526 

Total capital assets $ 	42,280,309  $ 	37,259,410  $ 	37,546,729  $ 	-38,068,770  $ 	79,827,038  $ 	75,328,180  

Additional information on the Citys capital assets can be found in the notes on pages 41 
through 43 of this report. 

DEBT ADMINISTRATION - 

At the end of the current fiscal year, the City of Tomball had a total bonded debt and capital 
lease obligatiOn of $33,920,000. 

CITY OF TOMBALL'S OUTSTANDING DEBT AT YEAR-END 

Govemmental Activities Business-type Activities Totals 

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 

General obhgations $ 	8,437,500 $ 	9,710,500 $ 	4,042,500 $ 	4,669,500 $ 	12,480,000 $ 	14,380,000 

Certificates of Obhgation 20,640,000 21,565,000 20,640,000 21,565,000 

Revenue bonds payable 2465,000 2,465,000 

Capital leases 800,000 535,464 800,000 535,464 

$ 	29,877,500 $ 	31,810,964 $ 	4,042,500 $ 	7,134,500 $ 	33,920,000 $ 	38,945,464 
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The City's General Obligation, Revenue Bond, and Certificates of Obligation ratings are listed 
below: 

Standard 
& Poor's 

General Obligation Bonds 	 AA+ 
Revenue Bonds 	 AA- 
Certificates of Obligation 	 AA+ 

Additional information on the Citys outstanding debt Can be,found on pages 44 through 47 of 
this report. 

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR'S BUDGETS AND RATES 

Tomball continues to experience growth, both Within the corporate City limits' and the 
surrounding area. The City's current population is ,estimated to be 11,299. However, within a 
3 mile radius it is estimated to be 15,789. Within a 5 mile radius, the estimate rises to 77,560. 

The City is continuing to focus on Economic Development initiatives, including the revitalization 
of the historic downtown area and the continuing development of two major retail developments 
on the west side of the City. On the north side, two new residential developments were under 
construction at the close of the fiscal year. 

The City's largest source of revenue continues to be sales taxes. During the fiscal ydar the City 
iexperienced an increase in this resource of 2.92%. With the continuing expansion of the local 
and surrounding economy, this trend is expected to continue, however, management is closely 
monitoring changes related to the oil and gas business in the Houston area. 

Construction of State Highway 249 expansion through the City Was completed in April, 2015. At 
the end of fiscal year, State Highway 99, also known as the Grand Parkway, was near 
completion just south of the City's extraterritorial jurisdiction. When it is completed, it will be the 
longest beltway in the U.S., and the third (outer) loop within the Houston-The Woodlands-Sugar 
Land metropolitan area. Additional development within the City is expected when these two 
major corridors are finished. 

The City's largest taxpayer, Baker-Hughes (formerly B J Services), continues the operation of its 
Western Hemisphere training facility on the northeast corner of the City. The training fåcility 
building was completed-during the 2014 fiscal year and an estimated 70,000 individuals ait 
expected to attend the Center on an annual basis according to announcements at that time. 

The ad valorem property tax rate rerriained at $ 0.341455, one of the lowest in Harris County. 

Pursuant to the City's financial management policy, fund balances in all funds exceeded the 
charter requirement of 25 per cent of anitual expenditures., 
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For 2015-2016, the City expects to maintain current levels of sales tax revenues. Property 65( 
revenues are expected to increase based upon values received from the appraisal district. 
There are .no chariges to the existing tax råtes or utility fees. Construction will continue on 
several capital projects, including the extension of Medical Complex Drive, the M-121 drainage 
channel, and the TEDC Business Park. 

CONTACTING THE CITY'S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

This financial r.eport is designed to provide our citizehs, customers; investors, and creditors with 
a general overview of thb Citys finances and to show the City's accountability for the money it - 
receives. Questions concerning this report or requests 'for additional financial, information 
should be directed to, Finanée Department, 501 James Street, Tomball, Texas, 77375, 
telephone 281-290-1490, or for general City information, please visit the City's web-site at' 
http://www.tomballtx:qov. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 

Primary Government 

Component 

Unit 

Governmental 	Business-type 

Activities 	Activtties Total 

ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents 	 $ 	29,950,252 $ 	11,262,913 $ 	41,213,165 $ 	5,426,593 

Investments 	 400,029 400,029 5,885,833 

Receivables, net 	 2,357,236 1,430,461 3,787,697 571,840 

Internal balances 	 (275,996) 275,996 
Inventory 	 - 66,888 66,888 

Prepaid expenses 	 14,435 - 14,435 

Cash and cash equivalents restricted for 

Debt service 	 2,123,625 2,123,625 

Construction 	 7,185,221 7,185,221 

Capital assets 're 

Nondepreciable 	 17,761,942 3,063,175 20,825,117 2,805,587 

Depreciable capital assets, net 	24,518,367 34,483,554 59,001,921 

Total assets 	 84,035,111 50,582,987 134,618,098 14,689,853 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 

Deferred outflows - pensions 	 1,047,375 180,257 1,227,632 

Deferred loss on issuance of 
refunding bonds 	 334,610 334,610 

Total deferred outfloWs 	 1,381,985 180,257 1,562,242 

of resources 

Total assets and deferred 

outflows of resources 	85,417,096 50,763,244 136,180,340 14,689,853 

LIABILITIES 

Accounts payable and other 

current liabilities 	 2,324,498 421,395 2,745,893 138,327 

Accrued interest payable 	 125,322 16,493 141,815 

Customer deposits 	 2,950 835,003 837,953 

Noncurrent liabilities: 

Due within one year 	 2,759,987 673,939 3,433,926 

Due in more than one year 	 33,882,012 4,412,941 38,294,953 

Total liabilities 	 39,094,769 6,359,771 45,454,540 138,327 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Deferred inflows - pensions 	 52,014 8,952 60,966 

Total deferred inflows 	 52,014 8,952 60,966 
of resources 

Total liabilities and deferred 
inflows of resources 	39,146,783 6,368,723 45,515,506 138,327 

* 

NET POSITION 

Net investment in capital assets 	 31,267,016 33,433,571 64,700,587 2,805,587 

Restricted for 

Debt senrice 	 2,956,381 2,956,381 

Enabling legislation 	 1,352,214 1,352,214 

Unres`tricted 	 10,694,702 10,960,950 21,655,652 11,745,939 

Total net position 	 $ 	46,270,313 $ 	44,394,521 $ 	90,664,834 $ 	14,551,526 

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
BALANCE SHEET — GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 

ASSETS 
Current assets 

General 
Fund 

Debt 
Service 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 	11,999,666 950,115 
Investments 400,029 
Recei\iables, net 2,292,584 7,963 
Cash and cash equivalents restricted for: 

Debt service 2,123,625 
'Construction 

Prepaid items 14,435 

TOTAL ASSETS $ 	14,706,714 $ 	3,081,703 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES 

a,  

LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 	1,221,186 $ 
Customer deposits 2,950 

'total liabilities 1,224,136 

FUND BALANCES 
Nonspendable 

Prepaid items 14,435 
Restricted for 

Debt service 3,081,703 
Construction 
Enabling legislation 

Committed 
City functions 

Assigned 
Other purposes 127,671 

UnasSigned 13,340,472 

Total fund balances 	. 13,482,578 3,081,703 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES $ 	14,706,714 $ 	3,081,703 

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
are an integral part of this statement 
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Capital 	 Other 	 Total 
Projects 	Governmental 	Governmental 

Fund 	 Funds 	 Funds 	. 

$ 12,579,428 $ 1,743,416 $ 27,272,625 
400,029 

47,204 	 2,347,751 

2,123,625 
7,185,221 	 7,185,221 

14,435 

$ 19,764,649 $ 1,790,620 $ 39,343,686 

828,302 	$ 	271,346 	$ 	2,320,834 
2,950 

828,302 
	

271,346 	 2,323,784 

18,936,347 

 

14,435 

3,081,703 
18,936,347 

	

1,52,214 	 1,352,214 

	

167,060 	 167,060 

127,671 
13,340,472 

  

     

18,936,347 

 

1,519,274 	37,019,902 

     

$ 	19,764,649 	$ 	1,790,620 	39,343,686 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET 

TO ThIE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 
SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 

Total fund balances•- governmental funds 	 $ 37,019,902 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are 
different because: 

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current financial resotarces, 
and therefore are not reported in the governmental funds balance sheet. 

Deferred losi on issuance pf refunding bonds is not recorded in the fund financial 
statements but is recorded as a deferred outflow of resources on the statement of 
net position. 

The accrual for other post employrnent beneffi does not require the use of current 
financial resources and is therefore not recorded in the governmental fund financial 
statements. 

The net pension liability and related deferred outflows and inflows of resources are 
recorded in the statement of net position. 

41,346,233 

334,610 

(657,809) 

	

Net pension liability 	(3,883,148) 

	

Deferred outflows - pensions 	1,047,375 

	

Deferred inflows pensions 	(52,014) 	(2,887,787) 

Interest payable on long term debt does not require current financial rešources; 
therefore, interest payable is not reported as a liability in the governmental funds 
balance sheet. 

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost of certain 
activities, such as fleet management, to individual funds. A Oortion of the assets and 
liabilities of the internal service funds are included in the governmental actMties in 
the statement of net position. 

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, capital leases payable, bond 
premiums and compensated absences are not due and payable in the current 
period, and therefore are not reported in the fund financial statements. The 

'components of long-term liabilities at September 30, 2015 are: 

Bonded debt payable (29,077,500) 
Capital lease payable (800,000) 

Landfill post closure costs (475,500) 
Compensated absences payable (1,341,292) 

Premiums received on issuance of bonds (406,750) 

(125,322) 

3,341,528 

(32,101,042) 

Net position - governmental activities 	 $ 46,270,313  

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
are an integral part of this statement 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN 

FUND,BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 

Revenues 

General 
Fund 

Debt 
Service 

Capital 
Projects 

Fund 

Other 
Governmental 

Funds 

Total 
Governmental 

Funds 

Property taxes $ 	1,715,949 $ 	3,525,979 $ $ 	5,24i ,928 

Sales, franchise, and other taxes 12,189,566 471,693 12,661,259 

Permits and licenses 492,646 492,646 

Fines and forfeitures 666,083 333,584 d99,667 

Service revenue 2,202,024 2,202,024 
Intergovernmental 384,308 384,308 

Contributions from component unit 10,000 .= 	524,912 71,841 606,753 

Interest on investments 15,564 2,402 19,375 1,031 38,372 
Other revenue 368,038 73,752 96,454 538,244 

Total revenues 18,044,178 4,053,293 164,968 902,762 23,165,201 

Expenditures 
Current 

Administrative 4,793,047 335,824 5,128,871 

Police 5,237,174 86,682 5,323,856 

Fire 3,478,204 3,478,204 

Court 312,161 312,161 

Public works 1,495,491 1,495,491 

Sanitation 1,968,765 1,968,765 
Streets 1,123,848 4,809,522 5,933,370 

Permits 400,801 400,801 

Garage 146,330 146,330 

Parks 492,919 1,564 494,483 

Community services 128,428 186,175' 314,603 
Debt service 

Principal 2,742,812 2,742,812 

Interest 854,618 854,618 
Bond issuance costs and fees 11,015 11,015 

Total expenditures 19,577,168 3,608,445 4,811,086 608,681 28,605,380 
A 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over expenditures (1,532,990) 444,848 (4,646,118) 294,081 (5,440,179) 

Other financing sources (uses) 
Proceeds from capital lease 860,000 800,000 
Transfers out (1,229,747) (424,208) (1,653,955) 

Transfers in' 2,031,276 1,209,747 20,000 3,261,023 

Total other financing 
sources (uses) 1,601,529 785,539 20,000 2,407,068 

Net change in fund balances 68,539 444,848 (3,860,579) 314,081 (3,033,111) 

Fund balances, beginning of year 13,414,039 2,636,855 22,796,926 1,205,193 40,053,013 

Fund balances, end of year $ 	13,482,578 $ 	3,081,703.  $ 	18,936,347 $ 	1,519,274 $ 	37,019,902 

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND 

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds 	 $ (3,033,111) 

Arnounts reported for governmental actMties in the statement of activities are different because. 

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of 
activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported 
as depreciation expense. This is the amount of capital assets recorded in the current period. 	5,923,542 

Depreciation expense on capital assets is reported in the statement of activities, but does not 
require the use of current financial resourceS. Therefore, depreciation expense is not 
reported as expenditures in the governmental funds. 	 (1,112,212) 

The issuance of long term debt (e g. bonds, capital leases) provides current financial 
resources to governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long term debt 
consumes the current financial resources of governmental funds Neither transaction, 
however, has any effect on net position. Also, governmental funds report the effect of bond 
premiums, discounts, and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas the amounts are 
deferred and amortized in the statement of activities. The effect of these differences in the 
treatment of long-term debt and related items was.  

1,916,848 

Current year changes in the long term liability for compensated absences do not require the 
use of current financial resources; therefore, are not reported as expenditures in 
governmental funds. 	 77,051 

Current year changes in the long term liability for landfill post-closure costs do not require the 
use of Current financial resources, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in 
governmental funds. 	 (2,500) 

Current year changes in accrued interest payable do not require the use of current financial 
resources, therefore, are not reported as an expenditure in the governmental funds. 	 (9,009) 

The accrual for other post employment benefits does not require the use of current financial 
resources and is, therefore, not recorded in the governmental fund financial statements. 	 (129,577) 

The net change in the pension-related deferred outflows and inflows of resources and net 
pension liability was: 	 84,822 

An internal service fund is used by management to charge the cost of certain activites, such 
as fleet management, to individual funds. A portion of the change in net position of the 
internal service funds is included in governmental activities in the statement of activities. 	 212,985 

Change in net position - governmental activities 	 $ 3,928,839  

The.Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
are an integral part of this statement 
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Proceeds from capital lease (800,000) 
Amortization of premium on bonds payable 43,056 
Amortization of deferred loss on refunding (59,672) 

Repayment of long term debt 2,733,464 



CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION — PROPRIETARY FUNDS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 

ASSET'S 
Current assets 

Business Type 
Activities 

Governmental 
Activities 

Enterprise Fund Internal Service 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 	11,262,913 $ 	2,677,627 
Accounts receivable, net 1,430,461 9,485 
Inventory 66,888 

Total current assets 12,760,262 2,687,112 

Noncurrent assets 
Nondepreciable capital assets 3,063,175 
Depreciable capital assets 58,019,568 2,618,317 
Less accumulated depreciation (23,38,395) (1,481,860) 

Net capital assets 37,344,348 1,136,457 

Total noncurrent assets 37,344,348 1,136,457 

Total assets 50,104,610 3,823,569 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Deferred outflows - pensions 180,257 

Total deferred oufflows of resources 180,257 

Total assets and deferred oufflows 
of resources $ 	50,284,867 $ 	3,823,569 

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION — PROPRIETARY FUNDS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 
(CONTINUED) 

LIABILITIES 
Current liabilities 

Business Type 
Activities 

Governmental 
Activities 

•Enterprise Fund Internal Service 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 421,395 $ 3,664 
Custom er deposits 835,003 
Current portion of bonds and other debt 625,026 
Com pensated absences 48,913 
Accrued interest payable 16,493 

Total current liabilities 1,946,830 3,664 

Noncurrent liabilities 
Com pensated absences 146,740 
Pensions 668,305' 
Long-term portion of bonds payable 3,597,896 

Total noncurrent liabilities 4,412,941 

Total liabilities 6,359,771 3,664 
1, 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Deferred inflows - pension§ 8,952 

Total deferred inflows of resources 8,952 

Total liabilities and deferred inflows 
of resources 6,368,723 3,664 

NET POSITION 
Net investment in capital assets 33,231,189 1,136,457 
Unrestricted 10,684,955 2,683,448 

Total net position $ 	43,916,144 $ 	3,819,905 

Reconciliation to govemment-wide statement 
of net position: 

Adjustments to reflect the consolidation 
of intemal sentice fund actMties related to 
enterprise funds 478,377 

Net position of business-type activities 44,394,521 

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
are an integral part of this statement 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND-NET POSITION 

PROPRIETARY FUNDS 
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 

OPERATING REVENUES 

Business Type 
Activities 

Governmental 
Activities 

Enterprise 
' 	Fund 

Internal Service 
Fund 

dharges for services $ 	10,065,652 $ 	2,955,343 
Taps and connections 198,902 
Penalties 108,374 
Capital recovery fees 535,192 
Miscellaneous 47,847 

Total operating revenues 10,955,967 2,955,343 

OPERATING EXPENSES 

Costs of sales and services 6,989,458 2,267,848 
Depreciation 1,408,665 342,207 

ToWI operating expenses 8,398,123 2,610,055 

Operating income 2,557,844 345,288 

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES) 
Investment income 24,450 1,743 
Unrealized gain on investments 9,321 

Interest expense (196,878) 
Gain on disposal of capital assets 12,626 
Contribution from component unit 670,000 

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 506,893 14,369 

. Income before transfers 3,064,737 359,657 

Transfers out, net (1,607,068) 

Change in net positon 1,457,669 359,657 

NET POSITION, beginning of year - as originally reported 42,97'0,072 3,460,248 

Implementation of change in accounting principle (Note 1) (511,597) 

NET POSITION, beginning of year - as restated, 42,458,475 3,460,248 

NET POSITION, end of year $ 	43,916,144 3,819,905 

Reconciliatiob to government-wide statement' of activities 
Change in net position $ 	1,457,669 
Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of internal service 

fund activities related to enterprise funds 146,672 

Change in net position of business-type activities $ 	..1,604,341 

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS , 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS — PROPRIETARY FUNDS 

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 

• OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Business Type 
Activities 

Governmental 
Activities 

Enterprise 
Fund 

Internal Service 
Fund 

Cash received from customers $ 	10,726,836 $ 2,955,201 
Cash payments to suppliers for goods 

and services (5,572,165) (2,265,160) 
Cash payments to employees for services (1,655,634) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 3,499,037 690,041 

NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTWITIES 
.Transfers (1,607,068) 
Contribution from component unit 670,000 

Net cash used in noncapital 
financing activities (937,068) 

CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Acquisiticin and construction of capital assets (833,375) (605,025) 
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 12,626 
Principal paid on capital debt (3,092,000) 
Interest paid on capital debt (222,652) 

Net cash used in capital and related 
financing activities (4,148,027) (592,399) 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES' 
Maturities of investments 2,250,000 
Investment income 24,450 1,743 

Net cash provided by investing activities " 2,274,450 1,743 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 688,392 99,385 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of year 10,574,521 2,578,242 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of year 11,262,913 $ 2,677,627 

The Notes to the Basie Financial Statements 
are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS — PROPRIETARY FUNDS 

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 
(CONTINUED) 

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCÓME TO NET 
CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Business Type 
Activities 

Governmental 
Activities 

Enterprise 
Fund 

Internal Service 
Fund 

Operating income $ 	2,557,844 $ 345,288 
Adjustments to reconcile operating income, 
to net cash provided by operating activities 

Depreciation and amortization 1,408,665 342,207 
Pension expense (14,597) 
Change in assets and liabilities 

Accounts receivable (255,552) '42) (1 
Inventory 11,282 
Other assets 633 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (235,026) 2,055 
Customer deposits 26,421 

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 	3,499,037 $ 690,041 

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
are an integral part of this statement 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Financial Reporting Entity 

The City of Tomball, Texas (the City) was incorporated on July 18, 1933. The City has 
operated under a "Home Rule Charter," which provides for a Council-City Manager form 
of government, since 1987. The City Council is the principal legislative body of the City. 
The City Manager is appointed by a majority vote of the City Council and is responsible 
to the Coundil for the administration of all the affairs of the, City. The City Manager is 
responsible for the appointment and removal of department directors and employees, 
supervision and control of all City departments, and preparation of the annual budget. 

The City provides the following services: public safety to include police and fire services; 
municipal court; streets; drainage; water and sewer services; solid waste collection and 
disposal; community development; and general administration. 

The City is an independent political subdivision of the State of Texas governed by an 
elected council and a mayor and is considered a primary government. As required by 
generally accepted accounting principles, these basic financial statements have been 
prepared based on considerations regarding 'the potential for inclusion of other entities, 
organizations, or functions as part of the City's finåncial reporting entity. The Tomball 
Economic Development Corporation, Employee Benefits Trust, and Tomball Legacy 
Fund, inc., although legally separate organizations, are considered part of the reporting 
entity. No other entities have been included in the City's reporting entity. Additionally, 
as the City is considered a primary government for financial reporting purposes, its 
activities are not considered a part of any other governmental or other type of reporting 
entity. 

Considerations regarding the potential for inclusion of other entities, organizations, or 
functions in the City's financial reporting entity are based on criteria prescribed by 
generally accepted accounting principles. These same Criteria are evaluated in 
considering whether the City is a part of any other governmental or other type of 
reporting entity. The overriding elements associated with prescribed criteria considered 
in determining that the City's financial reporting entity status is that of a primary 
government are that it has a separately elected governing body; it is legally separate; 
and it is fiscally independent of other state and local governments. Additionally, 
prescribed Criteria under generally eccepted accounting principles include considerations 
pertaining to organizations forwhich the Primary 'government is financially accountable 
and cohsiderations pertaining to organizations for which the nature and significance of 
their relationship with the primary government are such that exclusion would cause the 
reporting entitys finencial statements to be misleading or incomplete. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANTACCOUNTING POLICIES — CONTINUED 

Financial Reporting Entity — Continued 

Discretely Presented Component Unit 

Tomball Economic Development Corporation — This Corporation was formed in 1994 
pursuant to the Development Corporation Act of 1979, governed under Section 4B of 
the Act. It receives and utilizes the proceeds of a one-half cent sales tax to promote 
and assist in the economic development of the City. The seven directors of the 
Corporation are appointed by the governing body of the City. Directors are 
removable by the governing body of the City at any time without cause. 

Financial information for the Tomball Economic DeVelopment Corporation may be 
obtained from the following 'address: 

Tomball Economic Development Corporation 
401 West Market Street 
Tomball, Texas 77375 

Blended Component Units 

Employee Benefits Trust — Employee Benefits Trust (the Trust) has been included in 
the reporting entity as a blended component unit. The Trust is a not-for-profit entity 
and is organized under Section 222.002(c)(5) of the Texas Insurance Code. The. 
Trust's Board of Trustees are the members of City Council. The Trust is organized 
for the purpose of providing or offering City officers, employees, and qualified 
retirees and their dependents with life, disability, sickness, accident, and other health 
benefits either directly or through the purchase of insurance. The operations of the 
Trust are presented as a proprietary fund type in an internal service fund. 

Tomball Legacy Fund, Inc. — Tomball Legacy Fund, Inc. has been included in the 
reporting entity as a blended component unit. Tomball Legacy Fund, Inc. is a not-
for-profit 501(c)3 foundation managed by a seven-member Board of Directors 
consisting of the Mayor and City Council of the City of Tomball, plus one appointed 
individual. Tomball Legacy Fund, Inc. was established to allow the City to receive 
private and corporate grant funds to be used on behalf of the City. The operations of 
Tomball Legacy Fund, Inc. are presented as a governmental fund type in a special 
revenue fund. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — CONTINUED 

Govemment-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the 
statement of activities) report information about the City as 6 whole. These statements 
include all activities of the primary government and its component units. For the most 
part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. lnterfund 
services provided and used are not eliminated in the process of consolidation. 
Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental 
revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a 
significant extent on fees and charges for support. 

The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses dnd 
program revenues for each segment of the business-type activities of the City and for 
each function of the City's governmental activities. Direct expenses are those that are 
specifically associated with a program or function and, therefore, are clearly identifiable 
to a particular function. Program revenues include charges paid by the recipients of 
goods or services offered by the programs and grants that are restricted to meeting the 
operational or capital requirements of a particular program. Revenues that are not 
classified as program revenues, such as taxes and investment earnings, are presented 
as general revenues. 

Separate financial statements are provided for govemmental funds and proprietary 
funds. Major individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are 
reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. In the fund financial 
statements, the accounts of the City are organized on the basis of funds, each of which 
is, considered a separate accounting entity. The operations of eaqh fund are accounted 
for with a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund 
equity, revenues, , and expdriditures or expenses, as appropriate. Followihg is a 
description of the various funds: 

GoVemmental Funds 

Governmental funds are those funds through which most governmental functions are 
typically financed. 

General Fund  

The general fund is used to account for and report all financial resources nOt 
accounted for and reported in another fund. The principal sources of revenues 
include local property taxes, sales and franchise taxes, licenses and permits, fines 
and forfeitures, and charges for servicds. Expenditures include administrative, 
police, fire, municipal court, public works, sanitation, streets, permits, garage, parks, 
and community services. 

27 

Direct Testimony of Richard Weatherly, P.E. 	 Ex. RW-10 
COT0162 



CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — CONTINUED 

Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements — Continued 

Governmental Funds — Continued 

Special Revenue Funds  

The special "revénue funds are used to account for and report the 'proceeds of 
specific revenue sources that are restricted or committed to expenditures for 
specified purposes other than debt service or capital projects. The special revenue 
funds include Court 'Security Fund, Court Technology Fund, Hotel Occupancy Tax 
Fund, Red Light Camera Fund, Bunny Run Fund, the Special General Fund, and 
Tomball Legacy Fund, Inc. The special revenue funds are considered nonmajor 
funds for reporting purposes. 

Debt Service Fund 

The debt service fund is used to account for and report the payment of interest and 
principal on all gèneral obligation bonds and other long-term debt of the City. The 
primary source of revenue for debt service is local• property taxes. The debt service 
fund is considered a major fund for reporting purposes. 

Capital Proiects Fund  

The capital projects fund is used to account for and report the expenditures of 
resources accumulated from sales tax revenues and the sale of bonds and related 
interest earnings for capital improvement projects. The capital projects fund Is 
considered a major fund for reporting purposes. 

Proprietary Funds 

Proprietary funds are used to account for activities that are similar to those often 
found in the private sector. All assets, liabilities, net position, revenues, expenses, 
and transfers relating to the goverriment's business-type activities are accounted for 
through proprietary funds. The proprietary funds used by the City include the 
following:. 

Enterprise Fund  

The enterprise fund is used to account for the operations that provide water and 
wastewater collection, wastewater treatment operations, and solid waste collection 
and disposal. The services are financed and operated in a mannér similar to private 
business enterprises where the intent of the governing body is that the Costs 
(expenses including depreciation) of providing goods or services to the general 
public on a continuing basis wilt be financed or recovered primarily through user 
charges. The enterprise fund is considered a major fund for reporting purposes. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — CONTINUED 

Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements — Continued 

Proprietary Funds — Continued 

Internal Service Funds 

Internal service funds account for services provided to other departments or 
agencies of the government, or to other governments, on a cost reimbursement 
basis. The fleet replacement and health benefits funds are used to account for 
vehicle and equipment reRlacement and employee benefits. 

'Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 

The government-wide statement of net position and statement of activities and all 
prOpriefiry funds are accounted for with a flow of economic resources measurement 
focus on the accrual basis of accounting. With this measurement focus, all assets and 
all liabilities associated with the operations of these 'activities are included on the 
statement of net position. Proprietary fund equity consists of net position. Proprietary 
fund operating statements present increases (i.e., revenues) and decreases (i.e., 
expenses) in changes in net position. 

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its 
measurement focus. All governmental funds are accounted for using a current financial 
resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus, only current assets and 
current liabilities generally are included on the balance sheet. Operating statements of 
these funds present increases (i.e., revenues and other financing sources)* and 
decreases (i.e., expenditures and other financing uses) in net change in fund balances. 

The City, uses the modified accrual basis of accounting' in the governmental funds. 
Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the 
accounting period when they are susceptible to accrual (i.e., when they are measurable 
and available). Measurable means the amount of the transaction can be determined, 
and available means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to 
pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the City considers revenues 
available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current period. Revenues 
susceptible to accrual include charges for 'services and interest oh temporary 
investments. 

Property taxes, sales taxes, franchise taxes, and interest associated with the current 
period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual, and have been recognized as 
revenues of the current period. Other receipts and other taxes become measurable and 
available when cdsh is received by the government, and are recognized as revenue at 
that time. 

29 

Direct Testimony of Richard Weatherly, P.E. 	 Ex. RW-10 
COT0164 



CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — CONTINUED 

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting — Continued 

Under modified accrual accounting, expenditures are recognized in the accounting 
period in which the liability is incurred, if measurable, except for interest on general 
long-term debt, which is recognized when due. 

The accrual basis of accounting is used for the proprietary fund types. The statement of 
net position, statement of activities, and financial statements of proprietary fund types 
are presented on the accrual basis of accounting. Under this method of accounting, 
revenues are recognized in the accounting period in which, they are earned, and 
expenses in the accounting period in which they are incurred. 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revènues and expenses from nonoperating 
items. Operating revenues and experises 'generally result from providing services and 
producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing 
operations. The principal operating revenues of the City's proprietary funds are charges 
to customers for sales and services. Operating expenses include the cost of sales and 
services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets:  All revenue and 
expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenue and 
expenses. 

Implementation of Change in Accounting Principle 

During fiscal year 2015, the City adopted GASB, Statement No. 68, Accounting and 
Reporting for Pensions - an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27 (GASB 68) and 
GASB Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequbnt to the 
Measurement pate — an amendment of GASB Statement No. 68 (GASB 71). GASB 68 
requires the City to recognize a liability equal to the net pension liability for its pension 
benefits provided through Texas Municipal Retirement System, an agent 
multiple-employer public employee retirement system. GASB 71 clarifies the accounting 
for amounts associated with contributions, if any, made by a state or local government 
employer or nonemployer contributing entity to a defined benefit pension plan after the 
measurement date of the government's beginning net pension liability. Adoption of 
these standards required a prior period adjustmerit to report the effect of implementation' 
retroactively. Therefore, beginning net position on the government-wide Statement Of 
Activities and on the proprietary funds Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes 
in Fund Net Position has been adjusted to reflect the effect 'of implementation of these 
standards as of the beginning of the year. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — CONTINUED 

Deposits and Investments 

The City maintains a pooled cash and investments account. Each fund whose monies 
are deposited in the pooled cash and investment account has equity therein, and interest 
earned on the investment of these monies is allocated based upon relative equity at 
month end. Amounts on deposit in interest-bearing accounts and other investments are 
displayed on the financial statements as cash and cash equivalents. 

In accordance with GASB Stafement No. 31, Accounting and Reporting for Certain 
Investments and External investment Pools, the City reports all investments at fair value, 
except for "money market investments" and "2a7-like pools." 	Money market 
investments, which are short-term highly liquid debt instruments that may include U.S. 
Treasury and agency obligations, are reported at amortized cost. Investment positions 
in external investment pools that are operated in a manner consistent with the SEC's 
Rule 2a7 of the Investment Company Act of 1940, such as TexPool, are reported using 
the pools share price. 

The City has adopted a written investment policy regarding the investment of its funds as 
defined in the Public Funds Investment Act, Chapter 2256, Texas Governmental Code. 
In summary, the City is authorized to invest in the following: 

1. Obligations of the United States or its agencies and instrumentalities; 

2. Direct obligations of the State of Texas or its agencies and instrumentalities; 

3. Collateralized mortgage obligations directly issued by a federal agency or 
instrumentality of the United States, the underlying security for which is 
guaranteed by an agency or instrumentality of the United States; 

4. Other obligations, the principal and interest of which are,  unconditionally 
guaranteed or insured by, or backed by the full faith and' credit of, the State of 
Texas or the United States or their respective agencies and instrumentalities;,  

5. Certificates of deposit, repurchase agreements, and commercial.paper that meet 
certain criteria; 

6. An eligible investment pool'authorized by the goVerning body. 

Property Taxes 

Property taxds are levied during October of each year and are due upon receipt of the 
City's tax bill. Taxes become delinquent, with an enforceable lien on property, on 
February 1 of the following year. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — CONTINUED 

Receivables 

Transactions between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements 
outstanding at the end of the year are referred to as either "interfund 
receivables/paYables" (i.e., the current portion of interfund loans) or "advances to/from 
other funde (i.e., the noncurrent portion of interfund loans). All other outstanding 
balances between funds are reported as "due to/from other funds" in the fund firiancial 
statements. If the transactions are between the primary government and its component 
unit, these receivablés and payables are classified as "due to/from component 
unit/primary government." Any residual balancei outstanding between the governmental 
actiVities and business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial 
statements as "internal balances." 

All trade receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectibles.• 

Inventory and Prepaid Items 

The costs of governmental fund type inventory are recorded as expenditures when the 
related liability is included (i.e., the purchase method). Certain payments to vendors 
reflect costs applicable 'to future accounting periods (prepaid expenditures), and are 
recognized as expenditures when utilized. 

Capital Assets 

Capital assbts, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets 
(e.g., roads, bridges, sidewalks, and similar items), are reported -in the applicable 
governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial 
statements. In accordance with GASB Statement No. 34, infrastructure has been 
capitalized retroactively. Capital assets are defined by the government as assets with 
an initial, individual cost of more than $20,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of 
three years. Such asšets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if 
purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair market 
value at the date of donation. Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are 
capitalized as projects are constructed. 

Interest costs -incurred in connection with construction of enterprise fund capital assets 
are capitalized when the effects of capitalization materially impact the financial 
statements. 

The costs,of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or 
materially extend assets lives are not capitalized. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — CONTINUED 

Capital Assets — Continued 

Propertjf, plant, and equipment of the primary government, as well as the component 
units, are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful 
years: 

Buildings and improvements 	 20 - 50 years 
Machinery and equipment 	 3 - 10 years 
Vehicles 	 5 years 
Water, sewer and gas system 	 20 - 30 years 
Infrastructure 	 40 - 50 years 

Compensated Employee Absences 

It is the Citys policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation, 
sick pay benefits, and compensatory time. Amounts accumulated, up to certain limits, 
may be paid to employees upon termination of employment. The estimated amount of 
compensation 'for services provided that is expected to be liquidated with expendable 
available financial resburces is reported as an. expenditure and a fund liability of the 
governmental fund that will pay it when it matures or becomes due. Amounts of vested 
or accumulated vacation leave that are not expected to be liquidated with expendable 
available financial resources are recorded on the government-wide statement of net 
position and represent a reconciling item between the fund and government-wide 
presentations. 

Long-Term Obligations 

In the government-wide financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term 
obligations are reported as liabilities in the statement of net position. The long-term debt 
consists primarily of bonds payable and accrued compensated absences. 

Long-term debt for governmental funds, is not reported as liabilities in the fund financial 
statements until due. The debt proceeds are reported as other financing sources, net of 
the applicable premium.or discount, and payments of principal and interest are reported 
as expenditures. Claims and judgments paid from governmental funds,are reported as a 
liability in the fund financial statements only for the portion expected to be financed frorn 
expendable available financial resources. 

Long-term debt and other obligations financed by proprietary funds are reported as 
liabilities in the appropriate fund's financial statements. For proprietary fund types, bond 
premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the 
effective interest method, if material. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable 
bond premium or discount. 
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.CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES,— CONTINUED 

Long-Term Obligations — Continued 

The property tax rate is allocated each yearbetween the general and debt service funds. 
The full amount estimated to be required for debt service on general obligation debt is 
provided by the tax along with interest earned in the debt service fund. Though a portion 
of the general obligation debt was directly related to the purchase of water and sewer 
infrastructure, the debt service expenditures are included in the governmental fund 
financial statements as they are expected to be•paid from debt service tax revenues 
instead of Water system revenues. 

Assets acquired under the terms of capital leases are recorded as liabilities and 
capitalized in the government-wide financial statements at the present value of net 
minimum lease payments at inception of the lease. In the year of acquisition, capital 
lease transactions are recorded as other financing sources and as capital outlay 
expenditures in the applicable governmental fund finaricial statements. Lease payments 
representing both principal and interest are recorded as expenditures in the general fund 
upon payment with an appropriate reduction of principal recorded in the 
government-wide financial statements. 

Landfill Post-Closure Care Costs 

The City reports municipal solid waste landfill costs in accordance with GASB Statement 
No. 18, Accounting for Municipal Solid Waste Landfill Closure and Post-Closure Care 
Costs. The liability for landfill post-closure costs is reported in long-term debt. 

Pensions 

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred oufflows of resources.and 
deferred inflows of resoUrces related to pensions, and pension expense, information 
about the Fiduciary Net Position of the,  Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS) and 
additions to/deductions from TMRS's Fiduciary Net Position have been determined on 
the same basis as they are reported by TMRS. For this purpose, plan contributions are 
rec6gnized in the period that compensation is reported for the employee, which is when 
contributions are legally due. Benefit payments and refunds are recognized when due 
and payable in accordance with the benefit 'terms. Investments are reported at fair 
value. 

Deferred Inflows and Deferred Oufflows of Resources 

The City presents deferred outflows ,of resources and deferred inflows of resources in 
ccordance with GASB Statement No. 65, Items previously Reported as Assets and 

Liabilities (GASB 65), which establishes accounting and financial reporting standards 
that reclassify, as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources, 
certain items that ware previously reported as assets and liabilities. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIF1CANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — CONTINUED 

Deferred Inflows and Deferred Outflows of Resources — Continued 

In accordance with GASB 66, deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of 
resources that applies to a future period and therefore will not be recognized as an 
inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. Deferred outflows of resources represent a 
consumption of resources that applies to a future period and therefore will not be 
rOcognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until that time. 

Fund Equity 

Government — Wide and Proprietary Fund Net Position 

Net position on the statement of net position includes the following categories: 

Nef investment in capital assets — This component of net position consists of capital 
assets, including restricted capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and 
reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, notes, or other 
borrowings that are attributable to the, acquisition, construction, or improvement of 
those assets. 

Restricted — This component of net position consists of constraints placed on net 
position use through external constraints imposed by creditors (such as through debt 
covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or 
constraints imposed by lavi through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

Unrestricted — This component of net position consists of net position that does not 
meet the definition of "restricted" or"net investment in capital assets." 

Governmental Funds Fund Balance 

Fund balances of governmental funds are classified as follows: 

Nonspendable fund balance — represents amounts that cannot be spent because 
they are either in nonspendable form (such as inventory or prepaid costs) or are 
legally required to remain intact (such as principal of a permanent fund). 

Restricted fund balance — represents amounts that are constrained by external 
parties, constitutional provisions, or by enabling legislation. 

Committed fund balance — represents amounts constrained to specific purposes by 
the City itself, using its highest level of decision-making authority (i.e., City Council). 
To be reported as committed, amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless 
the City takes the same highest level action to remove or,change the constraint. The 
commitment must be made prior to year end. 
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CITY OF' TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — CONTINUED 

Fund Equity — Continued 

Governmental Funds Fund Balance — Continued 

Assigned fund balance — represents amounts the City intends to use for a specific 
purpose. Fund balance can be assigned by the City Manager, pursuant to the City's 
fund balance policy. In governmental funds 'other than the general fund, assigned 
fund balance represents the amount that is not restricted or committed. This 
indicates that resources in other governmental funds are, at a minimum, intended to 
be used for the purpose of that fund. Assignrnents can be made at any time. At 
September 30, 2015, $127,671 of fund balance in the general fund was assigned for 
encumbrances. 

Unassigned fund balance — represents amounts that are available for any purpose. 
Positive amounts are'reported only in the general fund. Other governmental funds 
might report a negative balance in this classification because of overspending for 
specific purposes for which amounts had been restricted:committed, orassigned. 

When both *tided and unrestricted reSburces are available for use, it is the City's 
policy to use restricted fund balance first, then unrestricted fund balance. 
Furthermore, when an expenditure is incurred ,for which committed, assigned, or 
unassigned fund balances are available, the City considers amounts to have been 
spent first out of committed, then assigned funds, and finally unassigned funds. 

The City Council is the govemment's highest level of decision-making authority and 
the formal action that is required to be taken to establish, modify, or rescind a fund 
balance commitment is a resolution approved by the Council. The resolution must 
either be approved or rescinded, as applicable,prior to the last day of the fiscal year 
for which' the commitment is made. The amount subject to the constraint may be 
determined in the subsequent period. 

The Council has also authorized the City Manager to asign fund balance. 
Assignments of fund balance bYthe City Manager do not require formal action by the 
City Council. 

The City strives to maintain an unassigned fund balance of not, less than 25% of the 
budgeted operational expenditures in all City funds. Due to thd volatile nature of a 
majority of its revenues, it is not deemed excessive for the City to maintain an 
unassigned fund balance in the general fund at levels greater than 33% of the 
budgeted operational expenditures. The purpose of this unassigned balance is to 
alleviate significant unanticipated budget shortfalls and to ensure the orderly 
provisions of services to citizens. Should unassigned fund balance fall below the . 
goal or have a deficiency, the City will seek to 'reduce expenditures prior to 
increasing revenues to replenish fund balance within a reasonable timeframe. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — CONTINUED 

Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles (GAAP) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial stat6ments and the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenditures/expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates. 

NOTE 2. STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

Annual budgets are legally adopted on a basis consistent with GAAP for the general fund, 
debt service fund, court seCurity fund, court technology fund, hotel occupancy tax fund, and 
the special general fund. All other adopted budgets are used as a management tool. The 
original budget is adopted by the City Council prior to the beginning of the year. The legal 
level of control as defined by the charter in the approved budget is the department level in 
the general fund, and all others are the fund level. The City Manager may transfer 
appropriations between divisions within a department without seeking the approval of City 
Council. Appropriations lapse at the end of the year. 

Excess of Expenditures Over Appropriations 

General fund 
Garage 	 818 

NOTE 3. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 

Deposits and investments as of September 30, 2015 are classified in the accompanying 
financial statements as follows: 

Govemm ental activities 
Business-type activites 
Component unit 

$ 39,659,127 
11,262,913 
11,312,426 

  

Total 	 $ 62,234,466 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 3. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS — CONTINUED 

Deposits and investments as of,September 30, 2015 consist of the following: 

City 
Deposits with financial institutions 	 $ 	884,405 
Investments 	 50,037,635 

Total city 	 $ 50,922,040  

Component unit 
Deposits with financial institutions 	 $ 	753,693 
Investments 	 10,558,733 

Total component unit 	 $ 11,312,426 

At September 30, 2015, the City and component unit had the following investments: 

Investment Type Fair Value 
Weighted Average 

Maturity (Days) 
City 

U.S. &gencies $ 	400,029 450 
TexPool 42,374,005 38 
Texas CLASS 7,263,601 62 

Total fair value $ 50,037,635 

Portfolio weighted average maturity-  47 

Component' unit 
U.S. Agencieš $ 	4,501,892 613 
Municipal Bonds 1,$83,941 1,090 
TexPool 3,764,018 41 
Texas CLASS 908,882 62 

Total fair value $ 10,58,733 

Portfolio weighted average maturity 	 304 

Investment Pools 

The City's investment pools are 2a7-like pools. A 2a7-like pool is one which is not 
registered with the Securities arid Exchange Commission (SEC) as an investrrient 
company, but nevertheless has a ,policy that it will, and does, operate in a manner 
consistent with the SEC's Rule 2a7 of the Investment Company Act of 1940. The value 
of the City's investments in these pools are the same as the value of the pool shares, 
which are valued based on quoted market rates. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 3. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS — CONTINUED 

Investment Pools — Continued 

The City invests in Texas Local Government Investment Pool (TexPool), which was 
created under the Interlocal Cooperation Act, Texas Government Code Ann. 
Chapter 791 and the Texas Public Funds Investment Act. The Texas Treasury 
Safekeeping Trust Company (the Trust) is trustee of TexPool and is a limited purpose 
trust company authorized pursuant to Texas'GoVernment Code Ann. Section 404.103 
for which the Texas State Comptroller is sole officer, director and shareholder. The 
advisory board of TexPool is composed of members appointed pursuant to the 
requirements of the Texas Public Funds Investment Act. 

The City invests in Texas CLASS lnvestmént Pool which was eštablished in 1996 
pursuant to the Texas Public Funds Investment Act. The pool is governed by a 
7-member board of trustees, who are elected by pbol participants. Public Trust 
Advisors, LLC serves as the lioots program administrator and Wells Fargo Bank Texas, 
NA, serves as custodian. 

Custodial Credit risk — deposits. In ihe case of deposits, this is the risk that in the event 
of a bank failure, the City's deposits may not be returned. State statutes require that all 
deposits in financial institutions be fully collateralized by U.S. Government obligations or 
its agencies and instrumentalities or direct obligations of Texas or its agencies and 
instrumentalities that have a fair value of not less than the principal amount of deposits. 
As of September 30, 2015, all of the City's and component units combined balance on 
deposit with financial institutions was fully collateralized with securities held by the 
pledging financial institution in the City's name. 

Interest rate risk. In compliance with the Citys Investment Policy, as of year-end, the 
City minimized the interest rate risk related to the decline in market value of securities 
due to rising interest rates in the portfolio by limiting the effective duration of security 
types not to exceed two years, with the exception of securities purchased related to 
reserve funds; .structuring the investment portfolio so that secarities matured to meet 
cash requirements for ongoing operations, thereby avoiding the need to sell securities 
on the secondary market prior to maturity; monitoring credit ratings of portfolio positions 
to assure compliance with rating requirements imposed by the Public Funds Investment 
Act, and investing operating funds primarily in shorter-term securities, money market 
mutual funds, or similar government investment pools. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 3. DEPOSITS AND INVES.TMENTS — CONTINUED 

Investment Pools — Continued 

Credit risk The City's investment policy limits investments in external investment pools 
to pools rated as to investment quality not less than AAA or AAAm or at an equivalent 
rating by at least one nationally recognized rating service. Obligations of states, 
agencies, counties, cities, and other political subdivisions of any state must be rated as 
to investment qualitY by a nationally recognized investment rating firm not less than A or 
its equivalent. The City's investments as of September,30, 2015 were rated as follows: 

Investment Type 	 Rating 	Rating Agency 
U.S. Agencies 	 AA+ 	Standard & Poor's 
Municipal Bonds 	 • 	 AM / AA+ 	Standard & Poor's 
TexPool 	 AMm 	Standard & Poor's 
Texas CLASS 	 AAAm 	Standard & Poor's 

NOTE 4. RECEIVABLES 

The following complise receivable balances at year end: 

Receivables: 
General 

Debt 
Service , 

Capital 
'Projects 

Nonmajor 
Gmemmental Enterprise 

Internal 
Service 

Component 
Unit 

•, 

Property taxes $ 	100,432 $ 169,306 $ $ 	- $ 	- 
Sales taxes 1,715,522 571,840 
Other taxes 119,613 
Customer accounts 386,588 1,604,599 
Interest 715 
Other 117,219 7,963 47,204 88 9,485 

Gross receivables 2,440,089 177,269 47,204 1,604,687 9,485 571,840 
Less allowance for 

uncollectibles (147,505) (169,306) (174,226) 

Net total receivables $2,292,584 $ 	7,963 $ $ 	47,204 $1,430,461 $ 	9,485 $ 571,840 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 5. CAPITAL ASSETS 

Changes in capital assets for governmental activities for the year ended September 30, 
2015 are summarized as follows: 

Beginning 
Balance Increases 

Reclassifications/ 
Decreases 

Ending 
Balance 

Governmental Activities 
Capital assets not being depreciated 

Land $ 	5,651,056 $ 	728,796 $ 	 - $ 	6,379,852 
Construction in progress 6,996,294 4,426,796 (41,000) 11,382,090 

Total capital assets.not 
being depreciated 12,647,350 5155,592 (41,000) 17,761,942 

Other capital assets 
Buildings and im provements 10,996,351 41,000 11,037,351 
Machinery and equipment 6,233,271 151,437 6,384,708 
Vehicles 3,796,802 1,097,021 (88,042) 4,805,781 
Infrastructure 22,692,839 - - 22,692,839 

Total other capital assets 43,719,263 1,289,458 (88,042) 44,920,679' 

Less accumulated depreciation 

Buildings and improvements 3,414,687 273,090 3,687,777 
Machinery and equipment 4,825,487 274,403 - 5,099,890 
Vehicles 3,402,381 254,969 (88,042) 3,569,308 
Infrastructure 7,464,648 580,689 8,045,337 

Total accumulated depreciation 19,107,203 1,383,151 (88,042) 20,402,312 

Total capital assets being 
depreciated, net 24,612,060 (93,693) 24,518,367 

Governmental activities 
capital issets, net $ 37,259,410 $ 	5,061,899 $ 	(41,000) $ 42,280,309 

Depreciation was charged to governmental functions as follows: 

Police $ 	314,671 
Streets 273,090 
Public works 524,451 
internal service 270,939 

Total governmental activities depreciation expense $ 	1,383,151 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 5. CAPITAL ASSETS - CONTINUED 

Construction in progress and remaining commitments under related construction contracts 
for governmental activities projects at yer end were as follows: 

Project Description 
Authorized 
Contrct 

Contract 
Ex penditures 

Remaining 
Commitment 

Agg R. Extension (Med. Complex Drive) 
Tomball Business Park 
M121 Final Phase 

$ 7,321,545 
7,669,009 
1,480,400 

$ 	5,471,720 
1,874,670 
1,453:474 

$ 1,849,825 
5,794,339 

26,926 
M124 Willowtreek Tributaries 1,348,145 1, 060,522 287,623 
M121 Drainage Channel 1,332,506 1, 054,487 278,019 
Rudolph Road and Utilities 139,896 139,896 
Depot Lighting 106,389 97,812 8,577 
M118 Drainage Channels 70,336 70,336 
Zion Road Sidewalks 50,800 38,500 12,300 
Michel Rd./Holderrieth Blvd. 35,130 35,130 
Broussard Park 83,012 30,053 52,959 
Pine St. Drainage / Sidewalk 29,300 .29,300 
Downtown Sidewalks 20,625 20,625 
Market/ Walnut Curb And Gutter 13,690 5,565 8,125 

Total $19,700,783 $ 	11,382,090 $ 8,318,693 

Changes in capital assets for business-type activities for the year ended September 30, 
20,15 are summarized as follows: 

Beginning 
Balance Increases 

ReclassiticatiOns/ 
Decreases 

Ending 
Balance 

Business-Type Activities 
Capital assets not being depreciated 

Land $ 	1,403,735 $ 	- $ 	- $ 	1,403,735 
Construction in progress 1,152,232 524,208 (17,000) 1,659,440 

Total capital assets not 
being depreciated 2,555,967 524,208 (17,000) 3,063,175 

Other capital assets 
Gas system 5,921,345 5,921,345 
Water and sewer system 47,522,430 40,550 47,562,980 
Machinery and equipment. 4,604,609 410,133 5,014,742 

Totid other capital issets 58,048,384 450,683 58,499,067 

Less accumulated depreciation 
Gas system 2,715,084 140,085 2,855,169 
Water and sewer system 17,746,322 1,154,675 18,900,997 
Machinery and, equipment 2,074,175 185,172 2,259,347 

Total acciimulated depreciation 22,535,581 1,479,932 24,015,513 

Total capital assets being 
depreciated, net 35,512,803 (1,029,249) 34,483,554 

Business-type activities 
capital assets, net $ 38,068,770 $ 	(505,041) $ 	(17,000) $37,546,729 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 5. CAPITAL ASSETS — CONTINUED 

Depreciation was charged to business-type functions as follows: 

Water and sewer $ 	1,339,847 
Gas 140,085 

Total business-type activities depreciation expense $ 	1,479,932 

Construction in progress and remaining commitments under related construction contracts 
for business-type activities projects at year end were as follows: 

Project Description 
Authorized 

Contract 
Contract 

Expenditures 
Remaining 

Commitment 

Medical Complex Drive $ 	1,366,013 $ 	1,050,791 $ 	315,222 
Hufsmith Water and Gas Improvement 390,106 359,438 30,668 
Rudolph Road 138,889 138,889 
24" Sanitary Sewer - E. Hufsmith 136,537 105,522 31,015 
Neal Road Utilities 4,800 4,800 

Total $ 2,036,345 $ 	1,659,440 $ 	376,905 

Changes in capital assets for the component unit for the year ended September 30; 2015 
are summarized as follows: 

Component Unit 
Capital assets not being depreciated 

Beginning 
Balance Increases 

Reclassifications/ 
Decreises 

Ending 
Balance 

Land $ 	1,653,664 $ 	- $ (297,615) $ 	1,356,049 
Construction in progress , 	1,144,312 305,226 - 1,449,538 

Total capital assets not 
being depreciated $ 	2,797,976 305,226 $ (297,615) $ 	2,805,587 

Construction in progress and remaining commitments under related construction contracts 
fdr the component unit at year end were as follows: 

Authorized 	Contract 
	

Remaining 
Project Description 
	

Contract 	Expenditures Commitment 

Tomball Business and Technology Park 
	

$ 1,930,893 $ 	1,449,538 $ 481,355 

Total 	 $ 1,930,893 $ 	1,449,538 $ 481,355 " 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 6. LONG-TERM DEBT 

The following is a summary of changes in the Citys total governmental long-term liabilities 
for the year ended September 30, 2015. In general, the City uses the general and debt 
service funds to liquidate governmental' long-term liabilities. 

Long-term liabilities applicable to the Citys governmental activities are not due and payable 
in the current period and, accordingly, are not reported as fund liabilities in the governmental 
funds. The governmental activities compensated absences, net other postemployment 
benefit obligation (OPEB), and net pension liability are generally liquidated by the general 
fund. Interest on long-term debt is not accrued in governmental funds, but rather is 
recognized as an expenditure when due. 

Beginning 
Balance Additions Reductions 

Ending 
Balance 

Amounts 
' 	Due Within 

One Year 
Governmental Activities 
Bonds, notes and other payables 

Bonded debCpayable 	 $ 31,275,500 $ $ 	2,198,000 $29,077,500 $ 	2,216,750 

Premiums 	 449,806 43,056 406,750 43,056 

31,725,306 2,241,056 29,484,250 2,259,806 

Other liabilities 
Capital lease obligation 	 535,464 800,000 535,464 800,000 68,858 
Net OPEB obligation 	 528,232 203,214 73,637 657,809 - 
Net pension liability 	 3,667,632 986,114 770,598 3,883,148 - 
Compensated absences 	 1,418,343 830,689 907,740 1,341,292 335,323 
Landfill post closure costs 	 473,000 2,500 - 475,500 96,000 

Total governmental activities 	$ 38,347,977 $ 	2,822,517 $ 	4,528,495 $36,641,999 $ , 	2,759,987 

Long-term debt due in more than one year $33,882,012 

Business-Type Activities 
Revenue bonds 	 $ 	7,134,500 $ $ 	3,092,000 $ 4,042,500 $ 	613,250 
Premiums 	 82,435 11,776 70,659 11,776 

7,216,935 3,103,776 4,113,159 625,026 

Other liabilities 
Net (WEB obligation 	 88,862 33,188 12,287 109,763 
Net pension liability 	 631,214 169,714 132,623 668,305 
Compensated absences 	 194,952 63,086 62,385 195,653 48,913 ' 

Total business-type activities 	$ 	8,131,963 $ 	265,988 $ 	3,311,071 $ 5,086,880 $ 	673,939 

Long-term debt due in more than one year $ 	4,412,941 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 6. LONG-TERM DEBT — CONTINUED 

Long-term debt at year end was comprised of the following debt issues: 

Final 
Series and Origirial issue Amount 	Maturity Interest Rate 

Governmental 
Activities 

Business-Type.  
ActMties 

Certificates of Obligation 
Series 2012 $ 14,500,000 	2032 3.00 - 4.25% $ 	12,775,000 $ 
Series 2013 8,500,000 	2033 2 00 - 3.00% 7,865,000 

20,640,000 
General Obligation Bonds 

Series 2010 2,120,000 	2018 1.50 - 2.20% 835,000 
Series 2011 8,650,000 	2022 2.00 - 4.00% 3,307,500 4,042,500 
Series 2013 6,370,000 	2023 1.00 - 1.65% 4,295,000 

8,437,500 4,042,500 

Total bonds and certificates of obligation $ 	29,077,500 $ 	4,042,500 

The annual requirements to amortize bond and certificate debt issues outstanding at year 
end were as follows:. 

Year Ending 
September 30, 

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities 
Principal Interest 	, Principal Interest 

2016 $ 	2,216,750 $ 	785,667 $ 	613,250 $ 	124,279 
2017 2,248,250 737,312 596,750 109,154 
2018 2,274,250 686,280 585,750 92,909 
2019 2,015,250 636,545 574,750, 75,501 
2020 2,041,250 587,152 563,750 55,605 

2021-2025 8,236,750 2,203,534 1,108,250 44,165 
2026-2030 6,560,000 1,207,846 
2031-2033 3,485,000 151,387 

$ 29,077,500 $ 	6,995,723 $ 	4,042,500 $ 	501,613 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 6. LONG-TERM DEBT — CONTINUED 

Defeasance of Bonds 

In prior years, the City defeased certain bonds by placing the proceeds of new bonds in 
an irrevocable trust to provide future debt service payments on the old bonds. 
Accordingly, the trust account assets and liabilities for the defeased bonds are not 
included in the City's financial statements. On September 30, 2015, $12,890,000 of 
bonds considered defeased are still outstanding. 

Federal Arbitrage 

The Tax Reform Act of 1986 instituted certain arbitrage restrictions consisting of 
complex regulations with respect to issuance of tax-exempt bonds after August 31, 
1986. Arbitrage'regulations deal with the investment of tax-exempt bond proceeds at an 
interest yield greater than the interest yield paid to bondholders. Generally, all interest 
paid to bondholders can be retroactively rendered taxable if applicable rebates are not 
reported and paid to the Internal Revenue Service at least every five years for applicable 
bond issues. Accordingly, there is the risk that if such calculations are not performed or 
are not performed correctly, a substantial liability to the City could result. The City 
periodically engages an arbitrage consultant to perform the calculations in accordance 
with the IRS's rules and regulations. 

Obligations under Capital Leases 

The City has entered into capital lease agreements in order to purchase machinery and 
equipment. The assets acquired throtigh these lease agreements are classified as 
follows: 

Asset: 

 

Governmental 
Activities 

 

Machinery and equipment 
Less: accumulated depreciation 

$ 	713,570 
(47,571) 

 

Total 665,999 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 6. LONG-TERM DEBT — CONTINUED' 

Obligations under Capital Leases — Continued 

The following is a summary of future lease payments due on this machinery and 
equipment: 

Year Ending 	 Lease 
September 30, 	 Obligation 

2016 	 $ 	95,178 
2017 	 95,178 
2018 	 95,178 
2019 	 95,178 
2020 	 95,177 

2021 - 2025 	 475,889 

Total 

Less interest portion 

Obligations under capital leases 

951,778 

(151,778) 

$ 	800,000 

Landfill Post-Closure Liability 

 

The City's municipal solid waste landfill is in the post-closure'process as the landfill has 
been closed. State and federal regulations required the City to place a final cover on the 
landfill site When it stopped accepting waste and to perform certain post-closure care 
4nd-monitoring functions at the site until approved for final regulatory closure by the 
Texas Commission on Environmental Quality. 

During the year ended September 30, 2015, the City's estimated liability for landfill 
post-closure costs increased by $2,500 due to changes in post-closure care 
requirements and the extent of environmental remediation required. The effect of this 
change in estimate is inclyded in current period governmental activities expenses on the 
statement of activities for the year ended September 30, 2015. The balance of $475,500 
reported as the liability for landfill post-closure costs at year end represents the 
remaining estimated post-closure costs required to achieve regulatory approval for 
closure. Actual costs may be higher due to inflation, changes in technology, or changes 
in regulations. 
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CITY OF TOMbALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 7. INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS 

Transfers between the primary government funds during the year were as follows: 

Transfers In Transfers Out Amount Purpose 

General Enterprise $ 2,031,276 TO fund indirect costs for 
administrative expenses 

Enterprise Capital projects 424,208 To fund miscellaneous projects 

Capital projects General 1,209,747 To fund miscellaneous projects 

Nonmajor 
governmental General 20,000 To fund miscellaneous projects 

$ 3,685,231 

NOTE 8. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Risk Management 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and 
destruction of assets; errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which the City 
participates in the Texas Municipal League's Intergovernmental Risk Pools (the Pool). 
The Pool purchases commercial insurance at group rates for participants in the Pool. 
The City has no additional risk or responsibility to the Rool, outside of the payment of 
insurance premiums. The City has not significantly reduced instirance coverage or had 
settlements which exceeded coveráge amounts for the past three years. 

Contingent Liabilities 

The City is a defendant in several lawsuits. Although the outcome of these lawsuits is 
not presently determinable, it is the opinion of the City's management that resolution of 
these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of the 
City. 

Liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of 
the loss can be reasonably estimated. Liabilities include an amount for claims that have 
been incurred but not reported. Claim liabilities are calculated considering the effectš of 
inflation, recent claim settlement trends, induding frequency and amount of payouts, and 
other econoniic and social factors. No claim-liabilities are reported.at  September 30, 
2015. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 8. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES — CONTINUED 

Encumbrances 

Fund balance encumbrances as of September 30, 2015 were as follows: 

General fund $ 	127,671 
Capital projects fund 2,083,145 
Other governmental funds 73,479 

NOTE 9. PENSION PLAN 

Plan Description 

The City participates as one of 860 plans' in the nontraditional, joint contributory, hybrid 
defined benefit pension -plan administered by •the Texas Municipal Retirement System 
(TMRS). TMRS is an agency created by the State of Texas and administered in 
accordance with the TMRS Act, Subtitle G, Title 8, Texas Government Code (the TMRS 
Act) as an agerit Multiple-employer retirement system for municipal employees in the 
State of Texas. The TMRS Act places the general administration and management of 
the System with a 'six-member Board of Trustees. Although the Governor, with the 
advice and consent of the Senate, appoints the Board, TMRS is not fiscally dependent 
on the State of Texas. TMRS's defined benefit pension plan is a tax-qualified plan under 
Section 401 (a) of the Internal Revenue Code. TMRS issues a Publicly available 
comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR) that can be obtained at www.tmrs.com.  

All eligible employees of the City are required to participate in TMRS. 

Benefits Previded 

TMRS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits: Benefit provisions are adopted 
by the governing body of the City, within the options available in the state statutes 
governing TMRS. 

At retirernent, the benefit is calculated as if the sum of the employee's contributions, with 
interest, and the city-financed monetary credits with interest were used to purchase an 
annuity. Members may choose to receive their retirement benefit in one of seven 
payments options. Members may also choose to receive a portion of their benefit as a 
Partial Lump Sum Distribution in an amount equal to 12, 24, or 36 monthly payments, 
which cannot exceed 75% of the meMber's deposits and interest. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 9. PENSION PLAN — CONTINUED 

Benefits Provided — Continued 

The plan provisions are adopted by the governing body of the City, within the options 
available in the state statutes governing TMRS. Plan provisions for the City were as 
follows: 

Plan Year 	 Plan Year 
2014 	 2015 

Employee deposit rate 
Matching ratio (city to employee) 

Years required for vesting 
Service retirement eligibility 
(expressed as age / years of 
service) 

Updated Service Credit 

Annuity Increase (to retirees) 

Employees covered by benefit terms: 

At the December 31, 2014'Valuation and 
were covered by the benefit terms:  

60/5,0/20 	 60/5,0/20 

100% Repeating, 	100% Repeating, 
Transfers 	 Transfers 

70% of 
	

70% of 
CPI Repeating 
	

CPI Repeating 

measurement date, the following employees 

7.00% 
	

7.00% 
2 to 1 
	

2 to 1 

5 
	

5 

Inactive employees or 
beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 

	
64 

Inactive employees entitled 
to but not yet -receiving benefits 

	
46 

Active employees 
	

153 

Total 
	

263 

Contributions 

The contribution rates for employees in TMRS are either 5%, 6%, or 7% of employee 
gross earnings, and the city matching percentages are either 100%, 150%, or 200%, 
both as adopted by the governing body of the city. Under the state law governing 
TMRS, the contribution rate for each city is determined annually by the actuary, using 
the Entry Age Normal (EAN) actuarial cost method. The actuarially determined rate is 
the estimated amount necessary to finance the cost of benefits earned by employees 
during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 9. PENSION PLAN — CONTINUED 

Contributions — Continued 

Employees for the City were required to contribute 7% of their annual gross earnings 
during the fiscal year. The contribution rates for the City were 12.38Wand 13.54% in 
calendar years 2014 and 2015, respectively. The City's contributions to TMRS for the 
year ended September 30, 2015, were $1,246,735, and were equal to the required 
contributions. 

Net Pension Liability 

The Citys Net Pension Liability (NPL) was measured as of December 31, 2014, and the 
Total Pension Liability (TPL) used to calculate the Ndt Pension Liability was determined 
by an actuarial valuation as of that date. 

Actuarial Assumptions: 

The Total Pension Liability in the December 31, 2014 actuarial valuation was determined 
using the following actuarial assumptions: 

Inflation 	 3.0% per year 
Overall payroll growth 	3.0% per year 

Investment rate of return 
7 0%

' 
 net of pension plan investment 

expense, including inflation 

Salary increases were based on a service-related table. Mortality rates for active 
members, retirees, and beneficiaries were based on the gender-distinct RP2000 
Combined Healthy Mortality Table, with male rates multiplied by 109% and female rates 
multiplied by 103%. The rates are projected on a fully generational basis by scale BB to 
account for future mortality improvements. For disabled annuitants, the gender-distinct 
RP2000 Disabled Retiree Mortality Table is used, with slight adjustments. 

Actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2014, valuation were based on the 
results of actuarial experience studies. The experience study in TMRS was for the 
period Janu,ary 1, 2006 through December 31, 2009, first used in the December 31, 
2010 valuation. Healthy post-jetirement mortality rates and annuity purchase rates were 
updated based on a Mortality Experience Investigation Study covering 2009 through 
2011, and dated December 31, 2013. These assumptions were first used in the 
December 31, 2013 valuation, along with a change to the Entry Age Normal (EAN) 
actuarial cost method. Assumptions are reviewed annually. No additional changes were 
made for the 2014 valuation. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASICTINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 9. PENSION PLAN — CONTINUED 

Net PensiOn Liability — Continued 

Actuarial Assumptions —_Continiied: 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investrnents is 7.0%. The 
pension plan's policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and 
may be amended by the TMRS Board of Trustees. Plan assets are managed on a tdtal 
return basis with an emphasis on both capital appreciation as well as the production of 
income, in order to satisfy the sbert-terin and long-term funding needs of TMRS. 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined 
using a building-block method in which best estimate ranges of expected future real 
rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) 
are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the 
long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real raies of return by 
the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target 
allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class 
are summarized in the following table: 

Asset Class  
Target 

Allocation 

Long-Term Expected 
Real Rate of Return 

(Arithm etic)  

Domestic equity 
International equity 
Core fixed income 
Non-core fixed income 
Real return 
Real estate 
Absolute return 
Private equity 

4.80% 
6.05% 
1.50% 
3.50% 
1.75% 
5.25% 
4.25% 
8.50% 

   

Total 	 100.0% 

Discount Rate 

The discount rate used to measure the Total Pension Liability was 7.0%. The projection 
of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee and employer 
contributions will be made at the rates specified in statute. Based on that assumption, 
the pension plan's Fiduciary Net Position was projected to be available to make all 
projectea future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, 
the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all 
periods of projected benefit pbyments to determine the Total Pensiob Liability. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 9. PENSION PLAN — CONTINUED 

Net Pension Liability — Continued 

Changes in the Nei Pension Liability 

Total Pension 
Liability 

(a) 

Plan Fiduciary 
Net Position 

(b) 

Net Pension 
Liability 
(a) - (b) 

Balance at 12/31/2013 $ 30,172,851 25,874,005 $ 4,298,846 
Changes for the year: 

Service cost 1,405,192 1,405,192 
Interest 2,122,080 2,122,080 
Change of bene'fit terms 
Difference between 

expected and actual experience (75,098) (75,098) 
Changes of asSumptions 
Contributions - ernployer 1,106,867 (1,106,867) 
Contriliutions - employee 629,009 (629,009) 
Net investrhent inconie 1,480,415 (1,480,415) 
Benefit payments, including, 
refunds of employee contributions (1:120,036) (1,120,036) 

Administrative expense (15,453) 15,453 
Other changes (1,271) 1,271 

Net changes 2,332,138 2,079,531 252,607 

Balance at 12/31/2014 $ 32,504,989 $ 	27,953,536 $ 4,551,453 

-Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to bhanges in the Discount Rate 

The following presents the net pension liability'óf the City, calculated tAirig the discount 
rate of 7.0%, as well as what the City's net pension liability would be if it were calculated 
using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (6.0%) or 1-percentage-pOint 
higher (8.0%) than the current rate: 

1% Decrease in 
DisCount Rate 

(6.00%)  

Discount Rate 

(7.00%) 

 

1% Increase in 
Discount Rate 

(8.00%) 

    

Net pension liability 	$ 9,576,990 	$ 	4,551,453 - $ 482,483 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

Detailed information about the pension plan's Fiduciary Net Position is available in a 
ieparately-issued TMRS financial report. That report may be obtained on the Internet at 
www.tmrs.com.  
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 9. PENSION PLAN — CONTINUED 

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows .of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to Pensions 

For the year ended September 30, 2015, the City recognized pension expense of 
$1,155,828. 

At September 30, 2015, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to pensions from the following squrces: 

Deferred 	Deferred 
Outflows of 	lntflows of 
Resources 	Resources 

Differences between expected and 
actual economic experience 

Changes in actuarial assumptions 
Difference between projected and 
actual investment earnings 

Contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date 

264,612 

963,020 

$ 	60,966 

Total 	 $ 1,227,632 $ 60,966  

$963,020 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from 
contributions subsequent to the measuremerit date will be recognized as a reduction of 
the net pension liability for the year ending Septeenber 30, 2016. Other amounts 
eeported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions will be 
recognized in pension expense as follows: 

Year ended December 31 
2015 52,021 
2016 52,021 
2'017 52,021 
2018 52,021 
2019 (4,438) 

Thereafter 

Total 203,646 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 10. POST EMPLDYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS 

Plan Description 

In order to recognize and reward long-term employees, as well as to provide an 
iricentive for remaining in the City's employment, the City administers a 
single-employer defined benefit Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) plan that will 
pay a portion of the premium for continuition of the medical and dental insurance 
coverage of certain retirees. The plan is known as the City of Tomball Retirement 
Health Care Plan. Enrollment for retiree coverage must be completed no later than 
30 days after the date of retirement. Later enrollment is not permitted. Any retiree 
eligible for medical coverage with another group plan shall not qualify for medical 
coverage with the City. 

In order to be eligible for this benefit, the retiree must be vested, age 55 or older and a 
current recipient of retirement. benefits from the Texas Municipal Retirement System; 
have been a full-time employee of the City,for ten consecutive years immediately prior to 
retirement; and satisfy the applicable plan requirements for the extension of retiree 
coverage under the medical and dental insurance benefit plan offered by the City at the 
time of retirement. 

Beginning with retirement and ending when the person is eligible for Medicare coverage, 
the City shall pay a portion of the retiree medical and-dental coverage premiums in 
accordance with the following: 40 percent of the premium costs for retirees having at 
least ten years, but less than 15 years, of full-time service with the City; 55.percent of the 
premium costs for retirees having at least 15 years, but less than 20 years, of full-time 
service with the City; 70 percent of the premium costs for retirees having at least 
20 years, but less than 25 years, of full-time service with the City; or 85 percent of the 
premium costs for retirees having at least 25 years of full-time service with the City. To 
cover their spouses, eligible retirees must pay 100 percent of the cost for their eligible 
spouse. Eligible retirees shall pay 100 percent of the premiums for basic life insurance. 

Benefit continuation of medical, dental, and life insurance coverage provided at the City's 
expense to retirees,ends when the retiree is eligible for Medicare coverage. Retirees 
who are eligible for Medicare coverage may, at their sole expense, continue to purchase 
coverage for themselves and their eligible dependents as provided under the applicable 
terms of the City's policies. A separate postemployment benefit plan report is not 
available for the City of Tomball Retirement Health Care Plan. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 10. POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS — CONTINUED 

Funding Policy and Annual OPEB Cost 

The City has elected to finance the OPEB plan on a pay-as-you-go basis. The City paid 
$37,677 in premiums related to the plan for retirees during the year. 

The City's annual OPEB cost is calculated based on the annual required contribution of 
the employer (ARC), an amount actuarially determined in accordance with the 
parameters of GASB Statement No. 45. The ARC represents a level of accrual that, if 
paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover the normal cost each year and to 
amortize the unfunded actuarial liabilities (or funding excesses) over a period not to 
exceed thirty years. 

The City's annual OPEB cost for the current year is as follows: 

Annual required contribution $ 	245,690 

Interest on OPEB obligation 27,769 
Adjustment to ARC (37,057) 

Annual OPEe cost (expense) end of year 236,402 
Net estimated employer contributions (85,924) 

Increase in net OPEB obligation 150,478 
Net OPEB, obligation — as of beginning of the year 617,094 

Net OPEB obligation — as of end of year $ 	767,572 

The City's annual OPEB cost, the amount' contributed by the employer, the percentage 
of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan, and the net OPEB obligatiqn for fiscal year 
ending September 30, 2015 and the preceding two fiscal years were as follows: 

Fiscal 
Year 

Annual 
OPEB 
Cost 

Actual 
Contribution 

Made 

Percentage of 
OPEB Cost 
Contributed 

Net OPEB 
Obligation 

at September 30 

2013 $ 	160,445 $ 	20,269 13% $ 	491,312' 
2014 165,688 39,906 24% 617:094 
2015 236,402 85,924 36% 767,572 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 10. POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS — CONTINUED 

Funding Policy and Annual OPEB Cost — Continued 

The funded status of the City's retiree health care plan, under GASB Statement No. 45 
as of December 31, 2014, the most recent valuation date, is as follows: 

Funded 
Ratio 
(3) 

(1) / (2) 

Actuarial 
Valuation 

Date 

Actuarial 
Value of 
Assets 

(1) 

Actuarial 
Accrued 
Liability 
(AAL) 

(2) 

12/31/2014 $ 	 $1,903,327 

Unfunded 
AAL 

(UAAL) 
(4) 

(2) - (1) 

$1,903,327 

UAAL as a 
Percentage 

	

Covered 	of Covered 

	

Payroll 	Payroll  
(5) 	(6) 

(4) / (5) 

	

$8,985,838 	21% 

Under the reporting parameters, the City's retiree health plan is 0% funded with an 
estimated actuarial accrued liability exceeding actuarial assets by $1,903,327 at 
December 31, 2014. As of the most recent valuation, the ratio of the unfunded actuarial 
accrued liability to annual covered payroll is 21%. 

Actuarial Methods and Assurnptions 

The Proje6ted Unit Credit actuarial cost method is used to calculate the GASB ARC for 
the City's retiree health plan. Using the plan benefits, the present health premiums and 
a set of actuarial assumptions, the anticipated future payments are projected. The 
projected unit credit metho'd then provides for a systematic funding for these anticipated 
payments. The yearly ARC is' computed to cover the cost of benefits being earned by 
covered members as well as to amortize a portion of the unfunded accrued liability. 

Projections of health benefits are based on the plan as understood by the City and 
include ftie types of benefits in force at the valuation date and the pattern of sharing 
benefit costs between the City and the City's employees to that point. Actuarial 
calculations reflect a long-term perspective and employ methods and assumptions that 
are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the 
actuarial value of assets. 

Significant methods and assumptions were as follows: 

Actuarial cost method 
Amortization method 
Remaining amortization period 
Asset valuation method 
Investment rate of return 
Inflation rate 

Healthcare cost trend rate (initial/ultimate) 

Projected unit credit cost method 
Level dollar amortization 
30 years - open amortization 
Market value smoothed 
4.5% per annum, net of expenses 
3.0% per annum 
Initial rate of 7.25%, declining to an 
Ultimate rate of 5.50% after 9 years 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 10. POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS — CONTINUED 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions — Continued 

Actuarial valuations involve estimateš of the value of reported amounts and assumptions 
about tha probability of events in the future. Amounts determined regarding the funded 
status and the annual required contributions of the City's retiree health plan are subject 
to continual revision as actual results are compared to past expectations and new 
estimates are made about the future. 

The schedule of funding progress, presented as Required Supplementary Information 
following the notes to the financial statements, presents multi-year trend information 
about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time 
relative to the actuarial accrued liability of benefits. 

TMRS — Supplemental Death benefit Fund 

Plan Description 

The City also participates in the-  cost sharing multiple-employer defined benefit 
group-term life insurance plan operated by the Texas Municipal Retirement System 
(TMRS) known as the Supplemental Death Benefits Fund (SDBF). The City elected, 
by ordinance, to provide grouii-term life insurance coverage to both current and 
retired employees. The City may terminate coverage under and 'discontinue 
participation in the SDBF by adopting an ordinance before November 1 of any year 
to be effective the following January 1. 

The death benefit for active employees provides a lump-sum payment appr9ximately 
equal to the employee's annual salary (calculated based on the employee's actual 
earnings, for the 12-month period preceding the month of death); retired employees 
are insured for $7,500; this coverage is an "other postemployment benefit," or OPEB. 

COntributions 

The City contributes to the SDBF at a contractually required rate as determined by 
an annual actuarial valuation. The rate is equal to the cost bf providing one-year 
term life insurance. The funding policy for the SDBF program is to assure that 
adequate resources are available to meet all death benefit payments for the 
upcoming year; the intent is not to pre-fund retiree term life insurance during 
employees entire careers. 

The Citys contributions to the TMRS SDBF for the years ended September 30, 
2015, 2014, and 2013 Were $2,821, $2,613, and $2,574, respectively, which equaled 
the required coritributions each year. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN 

NET PENSION LIABILITY 'AND RELATED RATIOS 
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 

Total pension liability 

Service Cost $ 	1,405,192 
Interest (on the Total Pension Liability) 2,122,080 
Changes of benefit terms 
Difference between expected and actual experience (75,098) 
Change of assumptions 
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (1,120,036) 

Net Change' in Total Pension Liability 2,332,138 

Total Pension Liability - Beginning 30,172,851 

Total Pension Liability - Ending (a) $ 	32,504, 989 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

Contributions - Employer $ 	1,106,867 
Contributions - Employ ee 629,009 
Net Investment Income 1,480,415 
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (1,120,036) 
Administrative Expense (15,453) 
Other (1,271) 

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position 2,079,531 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning 25,874,005 

Plan Fiduciary Net Positioh - Ending (b) $ 	27,953,536 

Net Pension Liability - Ending (a) - (b) $ 	4,551,453 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage 
,of Total Pension Liability 86.00% 

Covered Employee Payroll $ 	8,985,838 

Net Pension Liability as a Percentage 
of Covered Employee Payroll. 50.65% 

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF CHANGgS IN NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELAÝED RATIOS 

Only' one year of data is presented in accordance with GASB Standard No. 68 as the data for the years 
other than 2014 is not available. Additionally, GASB Standard No:68 requires that the information on 
this schedule be presented for the year ended as of the current measurement date (December 31) 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS 

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 

Actuarially Determined Contribution 	 $ 1,246,735 

Contributions in relation to the actuarially 
determined contribution 	 1,246,735 

Contribution deficiency (excess) 

Covered employee payroll 
	

$ 9,404,137 

Contributions as a percentage of covered 
employee payroll 	 13.26% 

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTONS 

Only one year of data is presented in accordance with GASB Standard No. 68 as the data 
for the years other than 2015 is not available. 
Additionally, GASB Standard No. 68 requires that the information presented on this schedule 
correspond with the City's fiscal year (September 30). 

Valuation Date: 
Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of December 31 and become effective 
in January 13 months later. 

Methods and Assumptions Used to Determine Contribution Rates: 
Actuarial Cost Method 
	

Entry Age Normal 
Amortization Method 
	

Level Percentage of Payroll, Closed 
Remaining Amortization Period 

	
29 years 

Asset Valuation Method 
	

10 Year smoothed market; 15% soli coffidor 
Inflation 
	

3.00% 
Salary Increases 
	

3.50% to 12.00% including inflation 
Investment Rate of Retum 

	
7.00% 

Retirement Age 
	

Experience-based table of rates that are specific 
to the Cities plan of benefits. 
Last updated for the 2010 Nialuation pursuant to an 
experience study of the period 2005 - 2009. 

Mortality 
	

RP2000 Combined Mortality Table with Blue Collar 
Adjustment with male rates multiplied by 109% and 
female rates multiplied by 103% and projected on a 
fully generational basis with scale BB 

Other Inforthation: 
There were no benefit "Changes during the year. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS 

POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN OTHER THAN PENSIONS 
SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 

Actuarial 	Actuarial 	Adtuatial 	 Unfunded 	 UAAL as a 
Valuation 	Value of 	Accrued 	Funded 	AAL 	Covered 	Percentage of 

Date 	Assets 	Liability (AAL) 	Ratio 	(UAAL) 	Payroll 	Covered Payroll 
(1) 	 (2) 	 (3) 	 (4) 	 (5) 	 (6) 

(1)/(2) 	(2) - (1) 	 (4)/(5) 

12/31/2012 * $' $ 	1,157,549 0.0%, $ 	1,157,549 $ 7,382,599 15.7% 
12/31/2013 * 1,157,549 0.0% 1,157,549 7,382,599 15.7% 
12/31/2014 1,903,327 0.0% 1,903,327 8,985,838 21.2% 

* In accordance with GASB Statement No. 45 for plans with a total membership of fewer than 200, 
the City has an actuarial valuation performed at least triennially, which was performed as of 
December 31, 2011. Therefore data,for 2013 is the same as 2012. 
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CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, 

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 
GENERAL FUND 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 

Budgeted Amounts Actual 
Amoufits 

Variance With 
Final Budget 

Pcisitive 
(Negative) Original Final 

Revenues 
ProPerty taxes $ 	1,678,000 $ 	1,706,000 $ 	1,715,949 $ 	9,949 
Sales, franchise, and other taxes 11,751,050 12,023,660 12,189,566 165,906 
Pemnits and licenses 426,800 536,670 492,646 (44,024) 
Fines and forfeitures 900,000 743,500 666,083 (77,417) 
Services rewnue 2,050,000 2,100,000 2,202,024 102,024 
Intergovernmental 348,480 354,876 384,308 29,432 
Contributions'from component unit 10,000 10,000 10,000 
Interest on investments 15,000 15,000 15,564 564 
Other revenues 249,280 338,480 368,038 29,558 

Total revenues 17,428,610 17,828,186 18,044,178 215,992 

Expenditures 
Administrative 5,191,008 4,961,792 4,793,047 168,745 
Police 5,532,146 5,457,312 5,237,174 220,138 
Fire 2,799,937 3,671,086 3,478,204 192,882 
Court 361,517 350,608 312,161 38,447 
Public works 1,578,578 1,651,432 1,495,491 155,941 
Sanitation 2,008,800 2,006,372 1,968,765 37,607 
Streets 1,525,237 1,157,008 1,123,848 33,160 
Pemiits 356,554 440,500 400,801 39,699 
Garage 147,148 145,512 146,330 (818)* 
Parks 909,850 543,697 492,919 50,778 
Community services 137,989 135,283 128,428 6,855 

Total expenditures 20,548,764 20,520,602 19,577,168 943,434 

Excess of revenues over (under) 
expenditures (3,120,154) (2,692,416) (1,532,990) 1,159,426 

Other financing sources 
Proceeds from capital lease 800,000 800,000 
Transfers in 2,031,276 2,031,276 2,031,276 
Transfers out (955,464) (1,229,747) (1,229,747) 

Total other financing sources 1,075,812 1,601,529 1,601,529 

Net change in fund balance $ 	(2,044,342) $' 	(1,090,887) $ 	68,539 $ 	1,159,426 

Fund balance, beginning of year 13,414,039 

Fund balance, end of year $ 	13,482,578 

Notes to Required Supplementary Information: 
1. Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted acocunting principles (GAAP). 
2 *Expenditures exceeded appropriations at the legal level of control 
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